
Jo Miller
Chief Executive
______________________________________________________________________
Issued on: Thursday 21st December, 2017

Governance Services Officer for this meeting David Taylor
(01302) 736712

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council
www.doncaster.gov.uk

Agenda

_______________________________________________________________________

To all Members of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE
Notice is given that a Meeting of the above Committee is to be held as follows:

 
Venue:    Council Chamber - Civic Office Waterdale, Doncaster

Date:       Tuesday, 9th January, 2018

Time:      2.00 pm

BROADCASTING NOTICE

This meeting is being filmed for subsequent broadcast via the Council’s web site.

The Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act and images collected 
during this recording will be retained in accordance with the Council’s published 
policy.

Please be aware that by entering the Council Chamber, you accept that you may be 
filmed and the images used for the purpose set out above.

Public Document Pack



Items for Discussion:

PageNo.
1.  Apologies for Absence  

2.  To consider the extent, if any, to which the public and press are to be 
excluded from the meeting.  

3.  Declarations of Interest, if any.  

4.  Minutes of the Planning Committee Meeting held on 12th December, 2017  1 - 12

A. Reports where the Public and Press may not be excluded.

For Decision

5.  Schedule of Applications  13 - 106

For Information

6.  Appeals Decisions.  107 - 116

B. Items where the Public and Press may be excluded in accordance 
with grounds specified in the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended.

7.  Enforcement Cases Received and Closed for the Period of 28th 
November to 18th December 2017 (Exclusion paragraph 6)

117 - 130

Members of the Planning Committee 

Chair – Councillor Eva Hughes
Vice-Chair – Councillor Iris Beech

Councillors Duncan Anderson, Mick Cooper, Susan Durant, John Healy, 
Sue McGuinness, Andy Pickering, Tina Reid, Dave Shaw and Jonathan Wood



DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

PLANNING COMMITTEE

TUESDAY, 12TH DECEMBER, 2017

A MEETING of the PLANNING COMMITTEE was held at the COUNCIL CHAMBER, 
CIVIC OFFICE, on TUESDAY, 12TH DECEMBER, 2017, at 2.00 pm.

PRESENT: 

Vice-Chair - Councillor Iris Beech (In the Chair)

Councillors Duncan Anderson, Mick Cooper, Susan Durant, Sue McGuinness, 
Andy Pickering, Dave Shaw and Jonathan Wood.

APOLOGIES: 

Apologies for absence were received from the Chair, Councillor Eva Hughes, and 
Councillors John Healy and Tina Reid. 

53 Declarations of Interest, if any 

In accordance with the Members Code of Conduct, all Elected Members 
present at the meeting in the Council Chamber declared that they had been 
lobbied with regard to Application No. 17/02334/FUL, Agenda Item 5(5), but 
had not given their opinion thereon.  

In accordance with the Members Code of Conduct, Councillor Jonathan Wood 
declared that he had received correspondence from Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council’s Communication Team with regard to Application No. 
17/00301/FULM, Agenda Item 5(1), but had not given his opinion thereon. 

54 Minutes of the Planning Committee Meeting held on 14th November, 2017 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 14th November, 
2017, be approved as a correct record and signed by the Vice-Chair.

55 Schedule of Applications 

RESOLVED that upon consideration of a Schedule of Planning and 
Other Application received, together with the recommendations in 
respect thereof, the recommendations be approved in accordance with 
Schedule and marked Appendix ‘A’.

56 Adjournment of Meeting 

RESOLVED that in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 18.11(f), 
the meeting stand adjourned at 3.40 p.m. and 5.25 p.m. to be 
reconvened on this day at 3.45 p.m. and 5.30 p.m. respectively.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4.



57 Reconvening of Meeting 

The meeting reconvened at 3.45 p.m. and 5.30 p.m. respectively.

58 Duration of Meeting 

RESOLVED that in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 33.1, the 
Committee, having sat continuously for 3 hours, continue to consider the 
items of business on the agenda.

59 Proposed Deed of Variation to Section 106 Agreement for a mixed use 
development at Manor Farm, Bessacarr 

The Committee considered a report which sought approval to a variation to the 
Section 106 Agreement for a mixed use development of housing, employment 
uses, ancillary amenities and public open spaces, including associated 
landscaping and means of access on approximately 70.07ha of land at Manor 
Farm, Bessacarr.  Prior to consideration of the report, Members were informed 
of an amendment to paragraph 34 of the report and the receipt of an additional 
representation from Councillor Steve Cox, Local Ward Member.

It was reported that outline planning permission was granted on appeal on the 
9th November, 2009 with the decision being subject to a Section 106 
Agreement which sought to deliver the following obligations:-

a. - affordable housing,
b. - bus services, 
c. - village greens, 
d. - play areas, 
e. - woodland and nature areas, 
f. - railway crossing improvements, 
g. - a site for a school, 
h. - a travel plan, 
i. - a financial contribution to the Warren Lane works, 
j. - the provision of service infrastructure,
k. - access to the commercial use development site; and
l. - a public open space management and maintenance scheme

It was noted that in relation to affordable housing, the Agreement required that 
26% of all units on site be delivered as affordable homes; the tenure split 
required 25% to be Social Rented dwellings and 75% to be Shared Ownership 
dwellings.  The first reserved matters application for Phase 1 of the 
development was approved in January 2012, which included details for the 
erection of 276 dwellings and included the phasing plan for the remainder of the 
development, comprising of a further two phases of development. 

Following a period of extensive marketing of the shared ownership homes 
within Phase 1 to housing associations, it was demonstrated that there was no 
demand for these homes.  Therefore, to enable the scheme to continue 
providing its contribution towards affordable housing without delay, the Council 
agreed to receive an equivalent financial sum in lieu of on-site provision which 
would be invested by the Council into affordable homes provision within the 
Borough; the Section 106 Agreement was subsequently amended by a Deed of 

Page 2



Variation to secure this.

Subsequently, due to the continued lack of demand for shared ownership 
homes which was an issue not only in Doncaster, but also across the Sheffield 
City Region, a situation which was acknowledged by the Council’s Strategic 
Housing Team, HCA and Housing Associations, Persimmon had asked to 
amend the Section 106 Agreement for Phase 2 and 3 to deal with the 
continuing market conditions.

In accordance with Planning Guidance ‘Having Your Say at Planning 
Committee’, Ms Jess Kiely, on behalf of Persimmon Homes, spoke in support 
of the proposal for the duration of up to 5 minutes.

Subsequently, it was moved by the Vice-Chair, Councillor Iris Beech and 
seconded by Councillor Duncan Anderson, to grant the deed of variation to the 
terms of the S106 Agreement.

A vote was taken on the proposal made by the Vice-Chair, Councillor Iris 
Beech, which was declared as follows:-

For – 3

Against – 0

Abstain – 2

On being put to the meeting, the Motion proposed by the Vice-Chair, Councillor 
Iris Beech, was declared CARRIED.

RESOLVED that the Head of Planning be authorised to agree a Deed of 
Variation to vary the terms of the Section 106 Agreement dated 23rd 
September 2009, in accordance with the terms outlined with the report.

60 Appeal Decisions 

RESOLVED that the following decisions of the Secretary of State and/or 
his inspector, in respect of the under-mentioned Planning Appeals 
against the decision of the Council, be noted:-

Application 
No

Application Description and 
Location

Appeal Decision

17/00110/OUT Outline application for 2 detached 
dwellings to rear of 21 Park Drive 
following partial demolition of host 
property to provide access (Approval 
sought for access and layout) (Being 
resubmission of planning application 
16/01749/OUT, refused on 
20/10/2016) at 21 Park Drive, 
Sprotbrough, Doncaster, DN5 7LA.

Appeal Dismissed
20/11/2017

Page 3



17/01546/FUL Erection of two bungalows with 
associated parking on former garage 
site at land to the rear of 18 
Laburnum Road, Mexborough, S64 
9RU.

Appeal Dismissed
14/11/2017

61 Exclusion of Public and Press

RESOLVED that the public and press be excluded from the remaining 
proceedings of the meeting, in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on the grounds that exempt 
information as defined in Paragraphs 5 and 6 of Schedule 12A to the 
Act, is likely to be disclosed.

62 Enforcement Cases Received and Closed for the Period of 2nd to 27th 
November, 2017 (Exclusion Paragraph 6) 

The Committee considered a report which detailed all Planning Enforcement 
complaints and cases received, and closed during the period 2nd to 27th 
November, 2017.

RESOLVED that all Planning Enforcement Cases received and closed 
for the period 2nd to 27th November, 2017, be noted.

63 Outstanding Planning Appeal - Mere Lane Edenthorpe (Minute No. 78 - 4th 
April, 2017) (Exclusion Paragraph 5) 

Further to the above Minute, the Committee considered a report which outlined 
the current position relating to the reasons for refusal of the planning application 
for residential development with open space, landscaping and associated 
access at Mere Lane, Edenthorpe, and sought approval for the Council to not 
defend the reason for refusal relating to the detrimental impact on the local 
highway network in respect of the Appeal against refusal of outline planning 
permission.

It was reported that outline planning application 15/01278/OUTM was refused 
by the Planning Committee in November, 2016; the reasons for refusal being as 
follows:-

1. being inappropriate development in the countryside which would create 
an isolated development disconnected from Edenthorpe;

2. being in an isolated location in relation to public transport and local 
services;

3. resulting in the loss of high quality agricultural land; and

4. having a detrimental impact on the local highway network

Page 4



It was noted that in April, 2017 the Planning Committee confirmed that it wished 
to pursue the highway reason for refusal and authorised the instruction of a 
consultant to appear on behalf of the Council to defend the reason.  The Appeal 
against that decision was proceeding by way of Public Inquiry which was held 
over two weeks in September 2017, and was due to re-convene again in early 
2018.  

Subsequently, following the Council’s highway witness examining the case 
thoroughly and upon the receipt of additional information from the appellant, it 
was now believed that the Council was not in a position where it could now 
defend the reason for refusal in respect of the detrimental impact on the local 
highway network.

RESOLVED that the Council not defend the reason for refusal relating to 
the detrimental impact on the local highway network in respect of the 
Appeal against refusal of outline planning permission for residential 
development with open space, landscaping and associated access at 
Mere Lane, Edenthorpe.

Page 5



Appendix A

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 12th December, 2017

Application 1

Application 
Number:

17/00301/FULM Application 
Expiry Date:

22nd May 2017

Application 
Type:

Major

Proposal 
Description:

Construction of new Motorway Service Area ("MSA") to comprise: 
amenity building, lodge, drive thru coffee unit, associated car, coach, 
motorcycle, caravan, HGV and abnormal load parking and a fuel 
filling station with retail shop, together with alterations to the 
adjacent roundabout at Junction 37 of the A1(M) to form an access 
point and works to the local highway network. Provision of 
landscaping, infrastructure and ancillary works

At: Land North East of J37 of the A1(M) Motorway, Marr Roundabout, 
Doncaster

For: Mr Mark Franks, Moto Hospitality Limited

Third Party 
Reps:

62 Parish: Marr Parish Meeting

Ward: Sprotbrough

A proposal was made to refuse the application contrary to the Officer 
recommendation.

Proposed by: Councillor Andy Pickering

Seconded by: Councillor Duncan Anderson

For: 5 Against: 3 Abstain: 0

Decision: Planning permission refused for the following reason:-

01. The proposed MSA is inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt and there are no very special circumstances to outweigh 
the harm to the Green Belt by reason of being inappropriate 
and also the visual harm and is therefore contrary to policy 
CS3 of the Core Strategy, policy ENV3 of the UDP and 
guidance set out in the NPPF with regard to Green Belts.  

Page 6



In accordance with Planning Guidance, ‘Having Your Say at Planning 
Committee’, Parish Councillor Rhonda Job, representing Marr Parish Council, 
spoke in opposition of the application for the duration of up to 5 minutes.

In accordance with Planning Guidance, ‘Having Your Say at Planning 
Committee’, Mr. Mark Franks, the Applicant, and Mr. Tony Collins, the Agent, 
spoke in support of the application for the duration of up to 5 minutes.

(The receipt of 3 additional letters of objection, an additional representation 
from Highways England, the addition of a further Condition, amendments to 
Conditions 8 and 16 and clarification being provided by Councillor Jane 
Nightingale, were reported at the meeting).

Application 2

Application 
Number:

17/02293/3FULM Application 
Expiry Date:

13th December 2017

Application 
Type:

Major

Proposal 
Description:

Erection of 25 affordable dwellings (Being application under 
Regulation 3 Town & Country Planning (General) Regulations 1992)

At: Cedar Adult Centre, Warde Avenue, Balby

For: DMBC

Third Party 
Reps:

0 Parish:

Ward: Balby South

A proposal was made to grant the application.

Proposed by: Councillor Iris Beech

Seconded by: Councillor Sue McGuinness

For: 8 Against: 0 Abstain: 0

Decision: Planning permission granted.

Page 7



Application 3

Application 
Number:

17/02355/3FULM Application 
Expiry Date:

20th December 2017

Application 
Type:

Major

Proposal 
Description:

Erection of 41 affordable dwellings (Being application under 
Regulation 3 Town & Country Planning (General) Regulations 1992)

At: Conisbrough Social Education Centre, Old Road, Conisbrough

For: DMBC

Third Party 
Reps:

0 Parish:

Ward: Conisbrough

A proposal was made to grant the application.

Proposed by: Councillor Susan Durant

Seconded by: Councillor Sue McGuinness

For: 8 Against: 0 Abstain: 0

Decision: Planning permission granted.

Page 8



Application 4

Application 
Number:

17/01087/FULM Application 
Expiry Date:

7th August 2017

Application 
Type:

Planning FULL Major

Proposal 
Description:

Use of building for 11 self-contained flats, retention and conversion 
of outbuilding to 1 self-contained flat, re-roof building and other 
alterations (retrospective) and new front boundary wall

At: 24 Avenue Road, Wheatley, Doncaster, DN2 4AQ

For: Empire Property Concepts

Third Party 
Reps:

6 objections Parish:

Ward: Town

A proposal was made to defer the application for a Site Visit in order to assess 
the front and rear gardens for landscaping options.

Proposed by: Councillor Jonathan Wood

Seconded by: Councillor Dave Shaw

For: 6 Against: 0 Abstain: 0

Decision: Defer the application for a Site Visit in order to assess the front and 
rear gardens for landscaping options.

Page 9



Application 5

Application 
Number:

17/02334/FUL Application 
Expiry Date:

14th November 2017

Application 
Type:

Full Application

Proposal 
Description:

Increase in the height of the butt stop walls to 6.1 metres

At: Rifle Range, Hoyle Croft Lane, Braithwell, Rotherham

For: Rotherham Chantry Rifle Club

Third Party 
Reps:

The proposal received 
objections from 13 
persons. 

Parish: Braithwell/Micklebring 
Parish Council

Ward: Tickhill and Wadworth

A proposal was made to defer the application to allow Officers to assess the 
material planning considerations of the representation received.

Proposed by: Councillor Duncan Anderson

Seconded by: Councillor Mick Cooper

For: 6 Against: 0 Abstain: 0

Decision: Defer the application for further consideration following the receipt 
of a late representation to individual Members of the Committee. 
The deferral will allow Officers to assess the material planning 
considerations of the representation.

In accordance with Planning Guidance ‘Having Your Say at Planning 
Committee’, Mr. Arnold Pawson spoke in opposition to the application for the 
duration of up to 5 minutes.

In accordance with Planning Guidance ‘Having Your Say at Planning 
Committee’, Mr. Dave Boden-Hook, the Applicant, spoke in support of the 
application for the duration of up to 5 minutes.

Page 10



Application 6

Application 
Number:

17/02588/ADV Application 
Expiry Date:

18th December 2017

Application 
Type:

Application to Display Adverts

Proposal 
Description:

Display of non-illuminated free standing post mounted sponsorship 
signs affixed to 'Tikspac' Dog Bag Stations across the Borough

At: Various Parks Within Doncaster Borough

For: Mr Paul Booth - DMBC

Third Party 
Reps:

0 Parish: Hatfield Parish Council

Ward: Hatfield

A proposal was made to grant the application.

Proposed by: Councillor Susan Durant

Seconded by: Councillor Iris Beech

For: 5 Against: 2 Abstain: 1

Decision: Planning permission granted.

In accordance with Planning Guidance ‘Having Your Say at Planning 
Committee’, Mr. Paul Booth, representing Doncaster Metropolitan Borough 
Council, the Applicant, spoke in support of the application for the duration of up 
to 5 minutes.

Page 11



Application 7

Application 
Number:

17/02370/FUL Application 
Expiry Date:

14th December 2017

Application 
Type:

Householder Application

Proposal 
Description:

Rear playroom addition to detached garage approved under 
Planning Permission 16/01899/FUL (retrospective)

At: 65 Ellers Road, Bessacarr, DN4 7BE

For: Mr Z Malik

Third Party 
Reps:

4 representations Parish: N/A

Ward: Bessacarr

A proposal was made to grant the application.

Proposed by: Councillor Dave Shaw

Seconded by: Councillor Duncan Anderson

For: 4 Against: 1 Abstain: 0

Decision: Planning permission granted.

In accordance with Planning Guidance ‘Having Your Say at Planning 
Committee’, Mr. Tony Kay spoke in opposition to the application for the duration 
of up to 5 minutes.

(The receipt of a written submission in support of the application from 
Councillor Majid Khan, Local Ward Member, was reported at the meeting).

Page 12



DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

                                                                                                                                                                          
 Date 9th January 2018 

To the Chair and Members of the
PLANNING COMMITTEE

PLANNING APPLICATIONS PROCESSING SYSTEM

Purpose of the Report

1. A schedule of planning applications for consideration by Members is attached.

2. Each application comprises an individual report and recommendation to assist the 
           determination process.

Human Rights Implications

Member should take account of and protect the rights of individuals affected when making 
decisions on planning applications.  In general Members should consider:-

1. Whether the activity for which consent is sought interferes with any Convention 
           rights.

2. Whether the interference pursues a legitimate aim, such as economic well being or 
           the rights of others to enjoy their property.

3. Whether restriction on one is proportionate to the benefit of the other.

Copyright Implications

The Ordnance Survey map data and plans included within this document is protected by the 
Copyright Acts (Sections 47, 1988 Act). Reproduction of this material is forbidden without the 
written permission of the Doncaster Council.

Scott Cardwell
Assistant Director of Development
Directorate of Regeneration and Environment

Contact Officers:                Mr R Sykes (Tel: 734555) 

Background Papers:        Planning Application reports refer to relevant background papers

Page 13

Agenda Item 5.



Summary List of Planning Committee Applications 

NOTE:- Site Visited applications are marked ‘SV’ and Major Proposals are marked ‘M’

Application Application No Ward Parish

1. M 17/02189/OUTA Finningley Cantley With Branton Parish 
Council

2. M SV 17/01087/FULM Town

3. SV 17/02334/FUL Tickhill And Wadworth Braithwell / Micklebring Parish 
Council

4. 17/02996/COU Wheatley Hills And Intake

Page 14



DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE - 9th January 2018 

 

 

Application  1 

 

Application 
Number: 

17/02189/OUTA Application 
Expiry Date: 

11th January 2018 

 

Application 
Type: 

Outline With Environmental Assessment 

 

Proposal 
Description: 

Hybrid Planning Application - Change of use of land to facilitate 
expansion of Yorkshire Wildlife Park, creation of new access,  parking 
and associated works with outline approval for animal enclosures, visitor 
hub, service compound,  energy centre and connecting bridges. 
 

At: Yorkshire Wildlife Park  Brockholes Lane  Branton  Doncaster 

 

For: Yorkshire Wildlife Park 

 

 
Third Party Reps: 

108 In opposition.  
463 Petition in 
support. 
36 letters in support.  

 
Parish: 

 
Cantley With Branton Parish 
Council 

  Ward: Finningley 

 

Author of Report Garry Hildersley 

 

MAIN RECOMMENDATION: APPROVE – Subject to S106 agreement 

 

 
 

Page 15



1.0 Reason for Report 
 
1.1 The application is being presented to Members due to the proposal being a departure 
from the development plan, potentially affecting a public right of way (PROW) and 
requiring an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA).  
 
1.2 In addition application has received significant interest from local residents.  
 
2.0 Proposal and Background 
 
2.1 The application as submitted is a hybrid planning application for the change of use of 
the development site on land at Hurst Lane, Doncaster for the expansion of Yorkshire 
Wildlife Park (YWP) including full planning permission for a proposed access on Hurst 
Lane and the creation of a car park in connection with the proposed use.  Outline planning 
permission is sought for a supporting facilities hub, animal enclosures, pedestrian and 
vehicular bridges connecting the site with the existing site across the River Torne. 
 
2.2 The proposed access onto Hurst Lane has generated significant public opposition. 
The proposal includes the construction of a roundabout on Hurst Lane and full 
consideration to the highways implications are outlined later within this report.  
 
2.3 The proposal also includes the creation of a service area close to the proposed 
access, staff car parking an energy  centre  and  other  associated  works  such  as  
internal  pathways,  bunding,  creation  of  lakes  and landscaping.   
 
2.4 For clarity, the red line boundary includes one of the woodlands on site, The Insley 
Plantation, the other woodland is outside of the application site. During consultation with 
Doncaster’s ecologist, a condition has been suggested dealing specifically with the 
management of the woodland.  The red line boundary includes a section of the River 
Torne to reflect the connection with the existing site via two proposed bridges. 
 
2.5 The site is located leading from Hurst Lane, to the south west of the village of Auckley 
and slightly south east of the existing Yorkshire Wildlife Park site.  The site is around 139 
acres (56.25 ha) in size and is approximately 9 miles from the centre of Doncaster Town 
to the west.  The site has a maximum incline of around 8 metres and a maximum length of 
around 1.35km (1,350m).   
 
2.6 There are a number of residential properties in close proximity to the proposed 
extension being 1 Crowpool Brockholes Lane Branton and Baxter Farm Bell Butts Lane 
Auckley. Over and above this the site boundary would lie close to properties on Hurst 
Lane and would be situated 310m from properties on Main Street, Auckley. The proposal 
is further away from settlements of Bessacarr and Branton than the existing park.   
 
3.0 Relevant Planning History 
 
3.1 On 17th November 2008 an application was submitted for the retention of use of land 
as a visitor attraction (Wildlife Park) under planning reference 08/03275/FULM.  
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 16



3.2 Since this time the park has grown incrementally on an ad-hoc basis, typically reacting 
to conservation matters and rescue projects between the years 2010 and 2017 which has 
permitted the growth of additional attractions and supporting facilities.  Each application 
has been considered on its individual merits considering principally the impact on the 
countryside, highways, ecological and arboricultural matters.  
 
3.3 More recently the Wildlife Park has entered into pre application discussions with the 
Council which set out the principle planning considerations that any subsequent planning 
application would need to consider. Following from this, the applicants submitted a 
Screening Opinion in line with EIA regulations to establish whether an Environmental 
Statement (ES) was required. The Council determined that should an application be 
submitted, it should be accompanied by an EIA having met the thresholds contained 
within Schedule 2 and 3 of the EIA regulations. Following from this, a Scoping Report was 
submitted to the Council which asked the Council to identify the scope of work the EIA 
would need to take account of.   
 
3.4 See appendix 1 for a complete planning history 
 
4.0 Site Allocation 
 
4.1 The site is allocated as Countryside Policy Area as defined by the Doncaster Unitary 
Development Plan (Proposals Map) 1998 and as Countryside Protection Policy Area as 
defined in the Local Development Framework Core Strategy (Key Diagram) 2012. The 
policies relating to the countryside in the east of the Borough are similar in the two plans 
and full consideration should be given to all relevant local and national polices. 
 
Relevant, Local and National Policies 
 
4.2  National Planning Policy Framework 
 
Chapter 1 - Building a strong and competitive economy  
Chapter 2 - Ensuring the vitality and viability of town centres  
Chapter 3 - Supporting a prosperous rural economy  
Chapter 4 - Promoting sustainable transport  
Chapter 7 - Requiring good design  
Chapter 8 - Promoting healthy communities  
Chapter 10 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change  
Chapter 11 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  
Chapter 12 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment  
Chapter 13 - Facilitating the sustainable use of materials  
 
4.3  Core Strategy 2011 - 2028 
 
In May of 2012 the LDF Core Strategy was adopted and this replaced many of the policies 
of the Unitary Development Plan; some UDP policies remain in force (for example those 
relating to the Countryside Policy Area) and will continue to sit alongside Core Strategy 
Policies until such time as the Local Plan is adopted. Core Strategy policies to be 
considered are: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



CS 1:   Quality of Life 
CS 2:   Growth and Regeneration Strategy 
CS 3:   Countryside 
CS 4:   Flooding  
CS 5:   Employment Strategy 
CS 7:   Retail and Town Centres 
CS 9:   Providing Travel Choice 
CS 14: Design and Sustainable Construction 
CS 15: Valuing our Historic Environment 
 
CS 16: Valuing our Natural Environment 
CS 17  Providing Green Infrastructure 
CS18: Air, Water and Agricultural Land 
CS20: Minerals 
 
4.4  Saved Unitary Development Plan Policies 
 
EMP 15 - Industrial and commercial development in rural areas 
ENV 2 - Countryside Policy Area Designation 
ENV 4 - Countryside Policy Area 
ENV 7 -  Recreation and Leisure developments 
ENV 11 - Industrial/Commercial Development 
ENV 12 - Retail Development 
ENV 36 - Sites of archaeological importance 
ENV 37 - Archaeological sites of national importance 
ENV 38 - Preservation of archaeology  
ENV 41 - Sites of regional/local importance for nature conservation 
ENV 53 - Design of new buildings 
ENV 59 - Protection of trees 
TO 4 - Hotel Development 
M4 - Safeguarding areas and buffer zones 
 
Other material planning considerations 
 
- The Doncaster Green Infrastructure Strategy 2014 - 2028 
- Doncaster Development and Flood Risk SPD 
- Doncaster Development and Design Requirements SPD 
- Doncaster's Economic Growth Plan 2013-18 
- Doncaster's Borough Strategy 2014 
- Doncaster Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016- 2021 
- Doncaster Growing Together 
 
5.0 Representations 
 
At the time of preparing this report, 108 letters of representation had been received in 
opposition to the proposal.  The majority of the letters are from people who reside in 
Auckley, Branton and Blaxton. The following is a summary of the issues raised: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



o Concerns about the increase in traffic using Hurst Lane cumulatively 
o The proposal would result in a negative impact on traffic congestion, pollution and 
noise 
o Increased use of Hurst Lane bridge by HGV's 
o Highway Safety concerns in relation to the entrance design and junction at Mosham 
Road 
o The new access should be taken via the FAARS link road 
o Concerns about increase in traffic given proximity of schools and college. 
o Concerns about the road signage strategy 
o Concerns relating to the position if the proposed bus stops 
o Concerns relating to stage 1 safety audit that has been undertaken 
o Concerns over the width of the footpath adjacent to Hurst Lane 
o Impact of the development on Scout Hut entrance 
o The proposal would take food production from a productive farm  
o The proposal would remove exercise facilities for Auckley residents 
o The proposal fails to utilise brownfield land 
o Concerns in relation to drainage of the site and the effect on the wider area 
o Concerns about loss of countryside 
o Impact of the development on the aquifer 
o Impact of the development on air quality 
 
A letter has been received by Caroline Flint MP (20.12.2017) who whilst supports the 
application in several respects namely employment, increased tourism, sustainability, 
conservation, impact on small businesses and diverting traffic away from Warning Tongue 
Lane, has concerns in relation entrance and its impact on schools given its proximity. 
Caroline Flint would like confirmation that alternative accesses have been adequately 
considered and discounted.  
 
In addition, 36 letters of support have been received and the material considerations 
raised are summarised below: 
 
o The proposal would increase the local economy 
o The proposal will help in conservation efforts of endangered species 
o The proposal will result in job creation  
o The proposal has the opportunity to provide additional education to schools 
o The proposal would raise the profile of Doncaster 
o The proposal would increase visitors to Doncaster 
o The proposal has the opportunity to stimulate growth  
o The proposal would be positive for the Yorkshire Tourism sector 
 
3 petitions in support of the application have been submitted containing a combined total 
of 463 signatures.  
 
  

Page 19



5.0 Parish Council 
 
5.1 Auckley Parish Council have raised an objection to the proposal on the basis that the 
junction of Hurst Lane with the A638 (Bawtry Road) and the B1396 (Mosham Road) 
already suffer with severe traffic issues and congestion. It is alleged that these junctions 
have been subject to numerous traffic incidents involving both vehicles and pedestrians.  
Thus a further increase in vehicles would lead to a deteriorating situation, resulting in even 
worsening traffic congestion. 
 
5.2 Concerns have been raised with regard to the proximity of the new access to bridge 
over the Doncaster-Lincoln railway line which reduces the sight line along Hurst Lane 
resulting in highway safety concerns. 
 
5.3 Concerns have also been received in relation to the cumulative impact of other 
existing uses including the airport, Hanson quarry, scout hut, schools and 6th form 
college.  
 
5.4 Concerns have been raised in relation to the narrow width of the footpath adjacent to 
Hurst Lane.  
 
5.5 The parish clerk to Cantley with Branton Parish Council has written in support of the 
application. 
 
6.0 Relevant Consultations 
 
S Yorks Passenger Transport Executive - No objections 
Ward Councillors - Concerns in relation to highway safety and suitability of access. 
Counterterrorism Unit (SY Police) - No objections  
Ministry Of Defence - No response received 
Ramblers Association - No response received 
Health and Safety Executive (HSE) - No objections 
DMBC PROW - No objections 
DMBC Highways Development Control - No objections subject to conditions and legal 
agreement 
DMBC -Highways Network Management - No objections subject to conditions and legal 
agreement 
DMBC Design Officer - No objections subject to condition  
DMBC Land Contamination - No objections subject to conditions 
DMBC Ecology Officer - No objections subject to conditions 
DMBC Tree Officer - No objections subject to conditions 
DMBC Environmental Health Officer - No objections subject to conditions 
DMBC Noise Team - No objections subject to conditions 
DMBC Internal Drainage - No objections subject to condition 
DMBC Policy (Retail) - No objections  
DMBC Air Quality Team - No objections subject to conditions 
Environment Agency - No objections subject to conditions 
NATS (Aviation) - No objections  
Robin Hood Airport - No objections subject to conditions 
Yorkshire Wildlife Trust - No objections 
Natural England - No objections  
Network Rail - No objections subject to conditions 
South Yorkshire Archaeology Service (SYAS) - No objections subject to conditions  
 
  

Page 20



8.0 Planning Issues and Discussion 
 
Introduction 
 
8.1 Yorkshire Wildlife Park is one of the newest zoos or wildlife parks in UK and is one of 
the most successful, with last year's attendance of 761,000 visitors taking it to be one of 
the top zoos in the UK (Source British and Irish Association of Zoos). 
 
8.2 Having grown exponentially since its establishment in 2009, the Yorkshire Wildlife 
Park has become one of Doncaster's leading leisure and tourist destinations and 
regionally offers a draw for people visiting from within Doncaster and further afield. In this 
time the YWP has become UK's Number 1 Walk Through Wildlife Adventure and more 
recently becoming in the top 6 zoos in the UK by attendance, beating the likes of the Eden 
Project, Chatsworth and Alton Towers. 
 
8.3 The geographical location offers excellent connectivity by:  
 
o  Air - Doncaster Sheffield Airport  
o  Rail - Doncaster Railway Station (15 minutes away) and the potential of a new rail 
station at the  
airport 2 minutes from YWP providing a link to Kings Cross in 1.5 hours  
o  Road - M18, A1M M1 and M62  
o  Sheffield, York, Leeds and Bradford within an hour's drive  
o  5 minutes' drive from Junction 3 of the M18 via the new Great Yorkshire Way link road   
o  8 minutes' drive from A1/M18 junction  
o  15 minutes' drive from Doncaster Town Centre 
 
8.4 The YWP core principles are deeply connected with conservation and the charitable 
objectives are to promote and advance conservation and welfare of endangered wildlife  
both  in  their  natural  habitat  and  in  captivity  and  to  educate  and  inspire  the  public,  
not  only  in Doncaster, but across the world. 
 
8.5 In 2016 the reported visitor numbers, excluding under 3's, was 761,000. Visitors under 
the age of 3 totalled 72,263. The estimates provided by Yorkshire Wildlife Park are that 
the number of visitors will rise to 1.5 million by 2022. 
 
8.6 The visitor survey established that visitors were broken down as follows: 
 
 - Day visitors - 94% 
 - Doncaster residents 37% 
 - Rest of South Yorkshire residents - 26% 
 - Resident elsewhere in the UK - 31% 
 - Domestic staying visitors - 5% 
 - Oversea visitors - 1% 
 
  

Page 21



8.7 YWP offers a unique view into the world of animals by self-guided education visits, 
ranger academy and delivering specific educations sessions for primary and secondary 
schools, further education courses from business to animal management, such as 
environmental enrichment, enclosure design, conservation, roles of modern zoos, 
marketing business and customer services.  YWP is also a multi-sensory experience and 
everywhere is fully accessible for disabled visitors  and education  sessions  are  adapted  
to the need of visitors to  ensure  the education offer  is  fully inclusive. YWP team has an 
award-winning education department with over 80,000 education visitors a year and over 
33,000 formal education sessions in 2016.   
 
8.8 Yorkshire Wildlife Park is connecting with Doncaster College and local universities to 
provide input into course requirements to ensure that the future work force is skilled in 
relevant areas to ensure they have the best access to opportunities to employment, not 
only at YWP but with employers across the borough. 
 
8.9 It is considered that YWP core principles, creation of jobs, conservation and welfare of 
animals, sustainability, education and economic growth all chime with the Council and 
governments overall aims and objectives for creating sustainable growth, supporting 
business, economic prosperity, education and conservation and all of these matters weigh 
in favour of the application. This being said, full consideration should be given to the 
specific planning issues associated with the proposed development, taking into account 
any harm generated. The objective therefore is to balance all of the material planning 
considerations in order to reach a recommendation. It is considered that the principal 
issues for consideration are as follows: 
 
 - The acceptability of the proposal in principal 
 - Highways Issues 
 - Ecology  
 - Tree issues 
 - Flooding  
 - Network Rail issues 
 - Aviation  
 - Impact on neighbouring properties 
 - Impact on Public Rights of ways 
 
Development in the Countryside 
 
8.10 During the consideration of the expansion of the park, careful thought has been given 
to the site characteristics and broadly speaking the higher grade landscaping features are 
located on the western boundary, moving towards lower grade in an easterly direction. 
Figure 1.1 below aims to illustrate this.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



 
 
Figure 1.1: Landscape value  
 
8.11 The application site is defined as Countryside Policy Area, as defined by the 
Doncaster UDP, adopted in 1998 and Countryside Protection Policy Area as defined in the 
Core Strategy.  Policy ENV 2, a saved policy contained within Doncaster Unitary 
Development Plan states that the Borough Council will maintain a Countryside Policy Area 
in the Eastern Part of the Borough covering all countryside outside the Green Belt.   
 
8.12 Development within the Countryside Policy Area is not normally permitted other than 
for certain purposes such as agriculture, forestry, outdoor recreation and leisure etc.  The 
policy also allows for re-use of existing buildings, small scale extensions of sources of 
employment, minor retail etc., subject to not prejudicing the purposes of the countryside, 
create or aggravate highway or amenity problems and be appropriately designed. Whilst 
the proposal would lead to the encroachment into the countryside contrary to Policy ENV2 
of Doncaster's Unitary Development Plan, it is considered other saved policies within the 
Unitary Development Plan and Doncaster's Core Strategy would allow expansion of the 
wildlife park.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 23



8.13 Core Strategy Policy CS3 sets out the generally acceptable uses and broadly chimes 
with policy ENV2 setting out at criterion (B iv) uses considered to be acceptable include 
agriculture, forestry, outdoor sport and recreation, habitat creation, flood storage and 
management, essential infrastructure, mineral extraction, some forms of stand alone 
renewable energy, suitable farm diversification schemes, limited extension, alteration or 
replacement of existing dwellings and re-use of suitable buildings for uses appropriate in 
the countryside. Saved Policy EMP15 encourages leisure developments provided that 
their impact upon the countryside is acceptable, is of a scale and nature that is 
appropriate to the countryside and complies with other safeguarding policies.  
 
8.14 Whilst undoubtedly the proposal would result in encroachment into the countryside, 
an important aspect to consider is the level of built development associated with the 
expansion. It is estimated that 53% of the site would be given over to general landscape 
and woodlands with 27% being animal attractions, 14% access and car parking and 6% 
supporting facilities. As a result, the proposal has sought to integrate, as far as is possible, 
into the landscape by retaining existing woodlands and through landscaping 
enhancement. With this in mind the applicants have provided a visual and landscape 
impact assessment as part of the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). Consideration 
of the visual impact of the development will be discussed later in this report.  
 
8.15 It is recognised that the animal attraction aspect of the proposal could reasonably be 
described as outdoor leisure and recreation, the proposal also includes the erection of a 
hotel and supporting facilities in outline form and this clearly falls outside of the acceptable 
uses specified within policies ENV2, ENV4 and CS3. That said saved Policy TO4 specifies 
the circumstances in which hotel and conference centre development may be acceptable. 
It recognises at criterion c) that an exception would be where development forms part of 
major recreation/leisure uses where the borough is satisfied that these uses would 
generate a large number of visitors and the requirement for overnight accommodation.  
 
8.16 As mentioned above, the proposal also includes an area of retail associated with the 
park and again this does not fall within the specified uses contained within policies ENV4 
or CS13. This being the case, consideration has been given to Policy CS 7 which sets out 
the Retail Hierarchy and supports proposals that would support the vitality and viability of 
the centres. As part of the application, the applicants have been asked to demonstrate 
that the creation of the hotel and associated retail functions would not adversely affect the 
function of the town centre and that the retail units are ancillary and incidental to the 
wildlife park to ensure that these do not become a destination in their own right. 
 
8.17 The applicants have provided clarity on this matter setting out that due to the 
increased attraction in visitor numbers to the site, the proposal will encourage connected 
trips to other attractions that Doncaster has to offer.  A separate sequential test has not 
been undertaken in terms of the hotel and shopping elements within the supporting 
facilities as these uses are integrated into the supporting facilities and part of the YWP 
destination offer and cannot be taken in isolation.  The hotel and shops will not be  
standalone units, instead they will be physically integrated  within  a  collection  of  
connected  buildings  within  the  hexagonal  formation.  The  hotel will provide simple but 
quality accommodation that will be affordable to attract families to stay at the park for a 
longer visit.   
  

Page 24



The hotel will wrap around the top of the other leisure facilities at the  lower  floors  and  
will  provide  a  unique  opportunity  to  look over  the  park  and  the  animal enclosures.    
The  shop  units  will  be  included  as  part  of  the  supporting  facilities,  integrated  within  
other buildings  at  are  formed  by  a  series  of  internalised,  'inward  looking'  courtyards.    
Shops  will  include  YWP merchandise and boutique merchandise which will compliment 
the wildlife park offer as a unique destination.  
 
8.18 There is simply no other site within the town or other local centre that would be able 
to offer the opportunity of delivering the wildlife park as a destination.  YWP has a unique 
offer that cannot be accommodated in such locations and does not compete with any 
other recreation and leisure use within the area. 
 
8.19 During the course of the application, Doncaster's Policy Team were consulted and 
asked to comment on the proposed plans for a hotel and retail aspects within the park 
extension and have accepted that the benefits of tourism in generating jobs and 
investment and improving facilities available for visitors and residents.  It is also 
acknowledged that since the adoption of the UDP, the Yorkshire Wildlife Park has 
emerged as a fairly new attraction within the borough which attracts a large number of 
visitors to the park and Doncaster each year.  As such it is not part of the stipulated main 
tourism sites (unsaved policy TO1) or hotel and conference sites (unsaved policy TO3).   
 
8.20 In this regard, it is considered that the proposal for a large scale tourist development 
and all the proposed ancillary elements are required to be located within the same site to 
provide the offer as proposed.  The retail, food outlets and hotel and leisure developments 
are seen as ancillary and complementary to the tourism offer of the whole wildlife park 
offering and not seen as uses in their own right.  It is considered that the individual uses 
could not be desegregated or delivered elsewhere and the council have regard for the 
scale and size of the tourist development of which has grown over the years since 
opening.        
 
8.21 It is therefore considered that the sequential test can be satisfied and the proposal is 
unlikely to have significant adverse impacts on the town centre and other centres within 
the hierarchy of the borough.   
 
8.22 Balancing the aforementioned it is considered that the creation of an extension to the 
wildlife park would fall within the specified uses contained within Policies ENV4 and CS3 
being outdoor leisure and recreation. The outline consent for a hotel and ancillary retail 
function whilst being a departure from the development plan, is considered acceptable, 
resulting from a major leisure use which would generate a significant number of visitors. 
The applicants have successfully demonstrated that the hotel function would operate as 
an ancillary function to the wildlife park and offers accommodation specifically associated 
with the park. As a result it is considered that its impact on the vitality of the town centre 
would be negligible.   
 
8.23 The creation of the new access road and parking facilities are considered to be an 
ancillary function of the expansion and further consideration will be given to this both 
within the visual impact section and highways section of this report.  
 
  

Page 25



Economic Development 
 
8.24 This economic impact has been analysed by considering the following factors: 
 
o The total number of visitors attracted; 
o The total level of expenditure; 
o Organisational spend; 
o Gross value added created; and 
o Gross and net additional jobs generated. 
 
8.25 Yorkshire Wildlife Park currently employs 301 members of staff of which 170 are Full 
Time Employed. An analysis of the employee residency shows that the breakdown is: 
 
o Doncaster 78% 
o Rest of South Yorkshire 6% 
o Elsewhere 16% 
 
8.26 The associated wage expenditure in 2016 was £3.1 million. The estimated level of 
wage retention in Doncaster is £2.45 million, with an additional £0.16 million retained 
interest of South Yorkshire. 
 
8.27 Though final levels of permanent employment will not be finalised until the 
development is completed, Yorkshire Wildlife Park has provided a high-level estimate of 
the number of Full Time Employed staff which will be required as a direct result of the 
expansion. This is expected to be around 300 new workers, of which the majority are 
anticipated to be Full Time Employed. From 2019 the Full time equivalent workforce is 
estimated to be 470, with a total workforce of 600 on the payroll including seasonal and 
part-time contracts. 
 
8.28 Based on current levels of wage expenditure the expansion is estimated to increase 
the wage expenditure to £6.2 million, with £4.9 million retained in Doncaster and an 
additional £0.32 million in the rest of South Yorkshire. The future gross additional indirect 
jobs are calculated to be 3,052. 
 
8.29 The level of Gross Value Added (GVA) generated through the Wildlife Park has been 
calculated on the analysis of additional expenditure. Overall, total GVA in 2014 for 
businesses within the industry sectors above is recorded as 43% of the size of total 
turnover . Using this ratio and applying it to the estimates of visitor and organisational 
spend, the additional GVA generated because of Yorkshire Wildlife Park is £12.85 million 
for the combined total. 
 
8.30 GVA is defined by the Office for National Statistics (ONS) as: 
 
"The difference between output and intermediate consumption for any given 
sector/industry. That is the difference between the value of goods and services produced 
and the cost of raw materials and other inputs which are used up in production." 
 
8.31 In other words, GVA equals sales - £29.9 million (£27.9 million visitor spend + 
£2million organisational spend) less costs of bought in materials, components and 
services (57% as estimated by National ABI financial data) leaving £12.85 million. 
 
  

Page 26



8.32 The GVA estimated in 2019 is £25.54 million. 
 
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
8.33 The EIA Regulations relate to a European Union Directive (Directive 85/337/EEC as 
amended), and give planning authorities a means of ensuring that they can take account 
of the environmental implications of individual developments in their decisions on planning 
applications. 
 
8.34 The EIA Regulations only apply to certain types of development, and before the 
Local Planning Authority can request an EIA it must determine whether the proposal is 
subject to the Regulations and can be classified as 'EIA development', and decide 
whether EIA is required in that particular case. This process is called 'screening' and there 
are two ways in which it can be applied: 
 
1. A developer can ask the planning authority to give an EIA screening opinion before 
the application for planning permission is submitted. 
2. Where a planning application has been submitted without an environmental 
statement and alternatively no request has been made in the past for a screening opinion, 
the planning authority has the right to adopt an EIA screening opinion for the proposal, 
which will determine whether or not the scheme requires EIA. 
 
8.35 In May 2017 the government updated the EIA regulations. Prior to the submission of 
the application, the Wildlife Park submitted a Screening Opinion to the Council seeking a 
judgment as to whether the proposal constituted EIA development taking into account the 
updated regulations.  
 
8.36 On the 12th June 2017 the Council replied confirming that in terms of EIA screening, 
the scheme did not constitute a Schedule 1 development as defined by the EIA 
Regulations.  Schedule 2 sets out the descriptions of development for the purposes of the 
definition of 'schedule 2 development' and lists the following: 
 
Tourism and leisure 
 
(a) ski-runs, ski-lifts and cable-cars and associated developments; 
(b) marinas; 
(c) holiday villages and hotel complexes outside urban areas and associated 
developments; 
(d) theme parks; 
(e) permanent camp sites and caravan sites; 
(f) golf courses and associated developments. 
 
8.37 The Council considered that it would be reasonable to suggest that the current 
proposal falls within Schedule 2 part 12  c) however it is necessary to determine the 
thresholds for such development and whether the development is located within 'a 
sensitive area'.  
 
  

Page 27



8.38 Schedule 3 sets out the selection criteria for screening schedule 2 development and 
splits consideration into three elements: 
 
1. Characteristics of development  
2. Location of development  
3. Types and characteristics of the potential impact 
 
8.39 The Local Planning Authority (LPA) considered the site to be 'sensitive' based upon 
consultee advice and as such the application had the potential to have a significant impact 
on several local wildlife sites. As a consequence it was concluded taking all matters into 
account, the proposed expansion of the wildlife park met the threshold for EIA 
development.  
 
8.40 Following the Council's Screening Response, a Scoping Opinion was submitted by 
the applicants which sought to outline the scope of the work necessary for the 
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). The Council determined the scope of the work 
required and the various environmental considerations that needed to be addressed 
should a planning application be submitted. A response was provided to the applicants on 
the 17th August 2017. The environmental impact assessment that has been submitted 
has followed the scoping framework and the necessary environmental issues have been 
considered. Following the submission of the EIA the Council have consulted with relevant 
and necessary consultees to consider all environmental impacts and these are outlined 
within this report.  
 
Visual Amenity 
 
8.41 The site is generally flat and open countryside with two pockets of woodland located 
on the southern and western boundaries of the site. Intersecting the site centrally lies a 
band of established trees that would remain and be enhanced as part of any subsequent 
approval.  
 
8.42 It is noted that there are no significant statutory landscape designations with the 
Application Site or immediate area. This being said a number of higher level and statutory 
nature conservation and heritage designations exist within the wider study area. 
 
8.43 Within and immediately abutting the application site, are two sites with designations 
for Local Wildlife Sites (LWS), Insley Plantation and River Torne. The designation is non-
statutory but is identified and selected locally, based on scientifically determined criteria 
and detailed ecological surveys. LWS represent key components of ecological networks. 
 
8.44 As part of the EIA submission the applicant has submitted a Landscape Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA) which considers the wider impact of the proposed 
development on the surrounding landscape. With this is mind it is clear that the 
masterplan is landscape led and has been informed by rigorous technical appraisal and 
landscape and visual impact assessment. Whilst the proposed use will inevitably change 
the area, it will also bring significant environmental and ecological benefits. This has been 
informed by the LVIA with significant mitigation measures proposed which over time will 
assimilate the development into the landscape and GI network and should improve the 
ecology of the area. 
 
  

Page 28



8.45 Whilst much of the application is in outline form, consideration has been given to the 
potential scale and magnitude of the proposal taken together with the wider topography, 
openness, geology and vegetation.   
 
8.46 There are key points from which the application site can be seen. The location of 
these identified viewpoints have been recorded using GPS & Maps v2.6 software and 
verified using existing aerial photo GPS based mapping data and OS and Topographical 
grid based mapping survey data. Seven viewpoints have been selected and agreed in 
principal for further analysis, through an initial scoping and consultation based on a wider 
selection of potential viewpoints. 
 
8.47 It has been concluded that the significance of the predicted landscape and visual 
effects has been assessed. The assessment has informed the development of the 
masterplan and landscape design for the Proposed Development including the 
incorporation of integral primary mitigation measures. These are largely comprised of 
screening and buffering planting including hedgerows and woodlands including woodland 
plantings on bunds the efficacy of which, for the short term effects and in-construction 
effects, could be increased by programmed early earthworks and planting operations 
where possible within the construction logistics plan. The Proposed Development overall 
is assessed to represent a significant change of use but embody considerable potential for 
mitigating the adverse effects of these and delivering alternative benefits for the landscape 
and the users of this locality.   
 
8.48 A condition has been suggested restricting the maximum height of the built 
development to 15m. As the application is only seeking full planning permission for the 
construction of the car park and access with the remaining issues to be considered via 
reserved matters applications, it is reasonable to impose such a condition which would 
both mitigate any visual harm associated by the development through the design process 
of the various other elements of the proposal as well as mitigating any potential issues in 
relation to aviation.  
 
8.49 Taking all matters into account it is considered that the overall visual impact of the 
proposal could be mitigated through careful design and landscaping to minimise the visual 
harm generated by the proposal.  
 
Highways and Parking 
 
8.50 One of the principle concerns raised by objectors relates to highway and pedestrian 
safety as well as the impact of the development on the existing road network. Concerns 
have been raised that the proposal would significantly increase traffic along Hurst Lane 
and the surrounding villages in particular Auckley. As part of the application submission, 
the applicants have provided a travel plan, transport assessment (TA), stage 1 road safety 
audit as well as a chapter within the EIA dealing solely with traffic and transport. For the 
purposes of this report, where ever reference is made to the Doncaster Highways Team 
this refers to Highways Development Control, Highways Transportation and Safer Roads 
teams.  
 
8.51 As previously set out the proposal is a hybrid application with full planning permission 
sought for the access and parking. The application seeks permission for the creation of a 
roundabout onto Hurst Lane lying to the north of Hayfield School and the railway crossing 
over the Doncaster to Lincoln line.  
 
  Page 29



8.52 Concerns were initially raised by Doncaster's Highways Team in relation to traffic 
forecast information and the impact of the development on the Hurst Lane / B1396 / 
School Lane junction (for the purposes of this report referred to as the Mosham Road 
junction). As a result, additional information has been supplied which sought to provide 
clarification on the parking management within the site as well as additional tracking within 
the internal layout of the site, junction improvement information and further modelling data.  
 
8.53 Clarity has been provided in relation to the August spike in visitor numbers when 
taken as an average across the summer months. It has been explained that this does not 
increase the number of visitors on a Sunday but increases the number of visitors 
throughout the week which in turn has an overall effect on the number of visitors 
throughout the month of August. This clarity has provided Doncaster's Highways team 
with some comfort that they are considering the worst case scenario associated with the 
development. It is noted that during the month of August the traffic highs associated with 
the Wildlife Park would be in someway mitigated against the schools being closed during 
the school holidays.  
 
8.54 One particular concern has been raised in relation to the proximity of the 
roundabout/access in relation to the existing railway bridge. Doncaster's Highways team 
have commented that in an unpredicted event, the proximity of the roundabout to the 
existing bridge may give rise to concern given visibility restrictions. This being said the 
consideration has been given to the design and siting of the roundabout in relation to the 
Design Manual for Roads and Bridges, TD16/07 Geometric Design of Roundabouts.   
 
8.55 It should be noted that the visibility requirements identified in the Design Manual for 
Roads and Bridges, TD 16/07 and TD9/93 have been met in relation to the proposed 
roundabout design. The standards apply to both single and dual carriageway roads in both 
urban and rural areas and indicate that relaxations below Desirable Minimum Stopping 
Sight Distance (SSD) are not permitted on the immediate approaches to junctions.  The 
'immediate approach to junctions' is defined as those lengths of carriageway on the 
approach to the roundabout between a point 1.5 times the Desirable Minimum SSD from 
the Give Way line and the Give Way line itself. For a speed limit of 30mph (48kph) the 
Standards indicate a Design Speed of 60kph and an associated Desirable Minimum SSD 
of 90m.  This distance is measured, both horizontally and vertically, from a minimum 
driver's eye height of between 1.05m and 2.00m, to an object height of between 0.26m 
and 2.00m both above the road surface.  
 
8.56 Additional information has been provided which shows that the above requirements 
have been met and that Desirable Minimum SSD is provided on the immediate approach 
to the roundabout in accordance with standards. The Desirable Minimum SSD required by 
standards is 90m.  The actual forward visibility provided varies but exceeds 90m over the 
length of approach from the give way line to a point 135m back from the give way line, as 
required by standards. 
 
8.57 As part of the transport information submitted, a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit (RSA) 
has been carried out on the Hurst Lane access proposals. The Audit was undertaken in 
line with the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges HD19/15 Road Safety Audit and, as 
required by HD19/15, included consideration of the interface with the existing road and the 
approaches to the new access.   
  

Page 30



A Brief for the road safety audit has been provided and this has given Doncaster's 
Highways team comfort that the consideration was given to the existence of the bridge 
when considering the proposal for the roundabout. The audit brief was prepared in 
advance and included information directly related to the proposals, and makes specific 
mention of the railway bridge as one of the relevant factors on the wider network that 
could affect safety. However, Highways officers have remaining concerns about the 
forward visibility over the brow of the bridge to the back of a potential queue, which is 
unpredictable to a precise level, or due to unforeseen events.  
 
8.58 Concerns have also been raised in relation to the width of the footpath which crosses 
the railway line situated on Hurst Lane. The existing footpath over the railway is 
approximately 1.2m at its narrowest point, as confirmed by topographical survey data and 
a site visit. It is noted that the proposal does not seek to widen this footpath principally 
because there is no room to expand the footpath. As previously set out a stage one safety 
audit was carried out on the new entrance and it was clear that the existence of the bridge 
was taken into account in its consideration.  Following from this, no objections were raised 
in relation to the footpath.   
 
8.59 In determining the application, consideration has been given to the impact of the 
development on the wider highway network. By way of background, concerns were initially 
raised that the proposal for the YWP in conjunction with the traffic generated by the New 
College and existing traffic flows would have created excessive queuing at the Mosham 
Road junction. The monitoring required to take place as part of the condition attached to 
the New College was only triggered once the college was operating at 50% capacity. At 
the time of writing this report, the college was being utilised by 400 of the possible 1200 
students and as a result had not reached its threshold for monitoring. As a result, it is not 
known what road improvement scheme would be best suited at the Mosham Road 
junction. The YWP therefore needed to consider a scenario that took into consideration 
the tipping point of the New College, the existing background traffic, any other committed 
development as well as the traffic generated by the current proposal. The YWP have 
subsequently taken into consideration 19% of delay at the Mosham Road Junction where 
nothing is done in connection with the new college site and incorporated this into the 
envisaged traffic generated by the proposed extension application. This has helped inform 
a design for road improvement works at the Mosham Road junction. The proposal is to 
signalise the junction at Mosham Road with traffic lights controlling the junction 
movements. and a copy of the junction design is included within appendix 2. In 
considering the revised junction design, it is important to look at its ability to function as 
well as taking into account whether it would alleviate issues with congestion. Doncaster's 
Highways team have commented on the proposed Mosham Road improvements and it 
has been commented  that the concept  appears acceptable in principle with the potential 
for further development.  However, it should be noted that the modelling indicates that the 
junction will operate near or at full capacity in the PM peak with little or no reserve in the 
future year scenario. 
 
8.60 In conjunction with the road improvement works at Mosham Road, it is proposed that 
alterations take place to the speed limit along Hurst Lane. Currently when joining Hurst 
Lane from the Mosham Road junction the speed limit is 40mph up until the approach of 
the bridge crossing the railway line.  The proposal seeks to change the speed restriction 
along Hurst Lane from 40mph to 30mph for its entire length. 
 
  

Page 31



8.61 In relation to the wider highways issues associated with the proposal, the applicant 
has acknowledged that historically there have been occasional instances of queuing back 
onto the highway at the existing YWP entrance on Warning Tongue Lane but this has 
been a rare occurrence and for specific events.  However, since then YWP have learned 
from these occasions and have demonstrated a commitment to managing traffic on site to 
ensure it causes minimal impact on the highway network.  YWP therefore now have an 
active management regime in place for the car park for busy days, including car park 
marshals, additional internal queuing lanes and temporary traffic lights and, as such, 
queuing issues have not occurred recently.  
 
8.62 Notwithstanding this, the parking arrangements incorporated in the expansion 
proposals have been prepared using best practice from other major tourist attractions.  
Additional stacking space for queues is therefore proposed within the YWP site and a 
revised, more efficient parking layout has been proposed. As previously set out the current 
proposal has provided details on how the car parking will be managed so as to ensure that 
vehicles are taken from the highway network as efficiently as possible and so to avoid 
excessive queuing. The existing entrance of Warning Tongue Lane will be retained in a 
reduced form for use by pre-booked school coach trips, who will park as per the existing 
arrangements.  However the main entrance will cater for all other coach trips and provides 
a specific area for coach parking.  Coaches arriving at the new entrance would use the 
internal perimeter road to access drop-off / pick-up laybys adjacent to the new visitor hub 
and would then circulate round the perimeter road, turning right before the roundabout to 
access the designated coach park at the south of the site.  Collection of visitors from the 
hub would follow a similar regime, with coaches leaving the coach park and using the 
perimeter road to access the drop-off / pick-up laybys before circulating round the 
perimeter road to reach the exit. 
 
8.63 This has also informed the internal arrangement of the car parking which has built 
into it what is known as a 'stacking' arrangement. In short this provides a length of road 
that allows vehicles to enter the site being taken off the network. In terms of lengths, the 
existing site provides 1.2km of stacking space in a single lane leading to the existing 
informal and unmarked parking area.  The new access will provide 750m in each of two 
lanes (1.5km in total) leading to a more efficiently laid out and marked parking area that 
can be entered from each of the lanes, effectively doubling the existing throughput by 
allowing two separate parking areas to be filled simultaneously.  This latter stacking 
provision can also be extended to 1.3km in each of the two lanes to provide 2.6km in total. 
In addition to this the proposed parking indicated a more efficient '60 degree' one-way 
echelon parking layout compared to the '90 degree' right angle, two-way layout at the 
current site.  This will speed up parking as it removes the need to perform complex multi-
turn manoeuvres when parking and will therefore prevent blocking back of the car park 
aisles.  
 
8.64 The YWP have confirmed that active management of the car parks will continue to be 
undertaken directly by YWP using car park marshals.  Staff will be on-site throughout the 
day at various locations within the car park to direct, manage and guide entering vehicles 
and to ensure the car park is filled in the most efficient way.  Spaces will be filled starting 
with those furthest from the entrance and, where necessary, use will be made of the 
additional entry loop stacking system shown in appendix 3 to increase queuing space 
within the YWP site and avoid congestion on the highway network.  As the day progresses 
and visitors start to leave, the attendants will ensure that spaces that become available 
are identified and new arrivals are directed to them.  
 
  Page 32



8.65 Those visitors with priority parking will also be directed accordingly, and, along with 
any pre-arranged school and coach trips, will be emailed additional parking information in 
advance, to avoid potential confusion and speed up their arrival process.  This will be in 
addition to the detailed visitor information provided via social media and the website aimed 
at ensuring that all visitors travel directly to the site using main routes and are aware of 
parking and entry arrangements.  
 
8.66 In general, the departure profile of visitors appears to indicate that active 
management of visitors leaving will not be necessary, other than on event days and 
particularly busy days over the summer period.  However, for these busier periods the 
number of car park attendants will be increased to provide a greater level of car park 
management towards the end of event days, when the active management may include 
additional internal traffic control, such as the use of temporary traffic lights within the site 
to manage outbound flows, as per the current arrangements at the existing access.  
 
8.67 In addition to the above, YWP are also proposing a 'Consultative Committee' working 
with key members of the community and local businesses to ensure there is effective 
communication across all areas.   
 
8.68 In considering the worst case scenario associated with the proposal, the transport 
assessment has taken account of the busiest months which have been identified as the 
summer months (June, July and August). It is noted that these busy periods are during the 
school holidays where the weather is better and the days are longer.  Modelling work has 
been carried out to determine the impact of the development on highway network. This 
considered weekdays (0800hrs - 0900hrs and 1600hrs - 1700hrs) as well as Sunday's 
(1000hrs - 1100hrs and 1600hrs - 1700hrs). A Sunday AM 1000-1100 was chosen as this 
hour provides the highest peak hour visitor flow, as well as the highest northbound 
approach flow to the proposed access roundabout. Consideration has also been given to 
the PM peak and modelling work has taken place between 1600 - 1700. Highways have 
commented that the junctions are shown to perform satisfactorily from a highways team 
perspective. 
 
8.69 The YWP have confirmed that discussions were held with SYPTE planning officers in 
relation to the bus stop placement who expressed a preference for in-carriageway stops 
rather than lay-bys as this would prevent buses at stops being 'boxed in' by other traffic.  
However, it has been acknowledged the concern regarding the impact on the highway 
network and subsequently the YWP have confirmed that a layby could be provided. 
Doncaster's Highways team have considered that as a matter of highway safety a layby 
northbound should be provided in order to serve buses using Hurst Lane.  
 
8.70 In conclusion, taking into account the modelling work that has been carried out 
together with the proposed solution to the junction Doncaster's Highways Team consider 
that the proposal is acceptable subject to suitably worded conditions and a legal 
agreement. In assessing the proposal it is therefore considered that the proposal adheres 
to Policy CS14 of Doncaster's Core Strategy as well as the technical specifications within 
Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB).  
 
  

Page 33



Residential Amenity 
 
8.71 It is acknowledged that one property directly bounds the site - being Baxter Farm, 
Bell Butts Lane. Over and above this, the site is surrounded by settlements on the 
northern boundary by Branton and Auckley whilst being intersected by the Doncaster - 
Lincoln railway to the south. The river Torne currently separates the existing wildlife park 
from the proposal site. As previously set out, principally concerns have been raised in 
relation to highway and pedestrian safety, congestion and traffic issues and consideration 
should therefore be given as to how this could affect residential amenity.  
 
8.72 Information submitted within the application has sought to demonstrate that the 
proposal would not negatively impact on surrounding uses or residential properties in 
terms of excessive noise or disturbance. Doncaster's Environmental Health team have 
assessed the plans submitted and the acoustic report and has concluded that the findings 
are acceptable.  
 
8.73 The report mainly considers noise arising from the proposed ancillary building and 
uses and arrival of visitors.  It does not consider noise arising from the wildlife experience 
within the park, which is considered to be negligible. 
 
8.74 Although the impact of the increase in traffic flows will not have a significant effect on 
road noise levels it is the opinion of the Environmental Health team that there is potential 
for short term, high level noise events such as delivery vehicles arriving late at night, 
potentially resulting in some adverse impact.  It is therefore recommended that deliveries 
should only be permitted to take place within 'normal' working hours and advise a suitably 
worded condition to be imposed.  
 
8.75 In addition to this it has been recommended that conditions be attached which would 
deal with such matters as deliveries and dispatches, a construction method statement 
(CMS) and construction impact management plan (CIMP). 
 
8.76 Over and above these issues, consideration has been given to noise and air quality 
which will be dealt with later within this report.   
 
Public Rights of Way PROW 
 
8.77 Whilst Doncaster's PROW team welcome the proposals for surfacing the footpath 
along a landscaped corridor in the centre of the car park; there have been concerns about 
that section of the footpath that runs alongside the existing quarry towards Bell Butts 
Lane. 
 
8.78 The farm track that accommodates this footpath has a minimum width of 19 feet.  
The width of the public footpath may be anywhere on this lane.  The proposals show that 
the vehicle access road is to run along a similar alignment to this footpath and although it 
is stated that the right of way will be enhanced, the proposed width or proximity to vehicle 
traffic was not clear. 
 
  

Page 34



8.79 Further to these initial comments, the applicant has provided additional clarification 
and Doncaster's PROW team have been re-consulted. It has been commented that there 
are no objections to the proposal.  
 
Flooding and Drainage 
 
8.80 The Environment Agency have confirmed that the site lies across Flood Zones 1,2 
and 3 and as such there is a requirement for the proposal to pass the Sequential and 
Exception tests and to be supported by a site specific flood risk assessment that can 
demonstrate that the development will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the 
vulnerability of its users without increasing flood risk elsewhere and where possible and 
will reduce flood risk overall. It is noted that the majority of the site lies within Flood Zone 1 
(low risk) with an area of zone 2 and 3 in proximity to the river Torne. 
 
8.81 Consultation has taken place with the Environment Agency as part of the 
determination of the application and it has been commented that there are no objections 
to the proposal subject to conditions. 
 
8.82 The conditions required by the Environment Agency relate to; the development being 
carried out in accordance with the FRA submitted, the need for a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), the submission of a landscape management 
plan, surface water drainage details and land contamination.  
 
8.83 It is noted that foul water is proposed to go to mains sewer and this is welcomed by 
the Environment Agency. Doncaster's Internal Drainage Team and Severn Trent Water 
have been consulted on the application and have raised no objections to the proposal 
subject to suitably worded conditions.   
 
8.84 The design of the proposed extension has considered a sequential approach by 
siting more vulnerable uses outside of the areas at highest risk of flooding. With this is 
mind the supporting facilities (hotel, retail and ancillary functions) have been sited within 
an area designated as flood risk zone 1. This is considered to be a pragmatic approach to 
dealing with the matter of flood risk on this particular site as it would be unreasonable to 
expect that the whole extension be relocated to an area entirely within flood risk zone 1. 
 
Trees and Landscaping 
 
8.85 There are two large blocks of woodland; a deciduous woodland and Insley  
Plantation  -  which is designated as a  Local  Wildlife  Site.  An existing linear stretch of 
trees intersects the site centrally and contains a number of established and mature trees. 
The indicative design seeks to retain this feature and improve the landscaping in this area. 
The applicants have used this band of existing trees as a marker between that open to the 
public (east of the trees) and that part of the site that would be incorporated into the park 
at the point of payment (west of the trees).  
 
  

Page 35



8.86 Initially, Doncaster's Tree Officer was happy for an ecological led approach to 
landscaping, however during the course of the determination of the application, 
suggestions have been made to the formal areas of the development site, in particular the 
car parking areas which is a matter of full consideration. It has been suggested that the 
car parking areas be altered to include tree specimens so that the large areas of car 
parking are broken up. Amended plans have been received which have sought to address 
this by adding additional specimen trees to the car parking area which further mitigates 
the visual appearance of the car parks. Further consultation with Doncaster's Tree Officer 
has resulted in no objections being raised subject to suitably worded conditions.   
 
Ecology and Wildlife 
 
8.87 Given the potential ecological interest within the site, woodlands and river Torn on 
and surrounding the site, consideration should be given to the proposed end use and 
ecological value of the site. 
 
8.88 Natural England have been a key consultee during the determination of the EIA 
screening and scoping reports to the application and as a result have been consulted as 
part of the current application. Natural England is a non-departmental public body whose 
statutory purpose is to ensure that the natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and 
managed for the benefit of present and future generations, thereby contributing to 
sustainable development.   
 
8.89 It has been commented that based upon the information provided,  Natural England 
has advised the Council that the proposal is unlikely to affect any statutorily protected 
sites or landscapes.  Natural England has asked that the Council satisfy themselves that 
the impact on locally and regionally important sites be fully considered. As a 
consequence, Doncaster's Ecologist has considered the information submitted and 
concluded that the initial information submitted did not sufficiently consider the potential 
impact of the development on the surrounding ecology and biodiversity, in particular, the 
proposal failed to adequately address the potential impact of the development on bats.  
 
8.90 Yorkshire Wildlife Trust (YWT) had previously raised an objection to the application 
on the basis of the information supplied within the Environmental Impact Assessment 
(EIA). It was considered that the proposal failed to adequately take into account the 
potential impact of the development on bats. These comments were echoed by 
Doncaster's Ecologist who also raised concerns in relation to the impact on bats amongst 
other ecological concerns.  
 
8.91 Taking these concerns into account, an amendment to the EIA was received which 
sought to replace chapter 6 in relation to biodiversity. The YWT and Doncaster's Ecologist 
have been re-consulted as a consequence of the additional information, it has been 
commented that there are no objections to the proposal based upon the amended 
information subject to suitably worded conditions.  
 
  

Page 36



Gas Pipeline 
 
8.92 Careful consideration has been given to an existing pipeline which runs through the 
existing wildlife park site to assess whether the proposal could potentially affect the 
integrity of the pipeline. During the course of the application, the Health and Safety 
Executive (HSE) and gas pipeline operator have been consulted. It is noted that the 
proposal does not fall within the standoff areas of the pipeline however consideration has 
been given as to whether the increase in number of visitors would potentially affect the 
pipeline or whether the congregation of people in specific areas could detrimentally affect 
the safeguarding of the pipeline. The HSE have commented that there are no objections 
to the proposal. 
 
Air Quality Assessment (AQA) 
 
8.93 Action to manage and improve air quality is largely driven by EU legislation. The 
2008 Ambient Air Quality Directive sets legally binding limits for concentrations in outdoor 
air of major air pollutants that impact public health such as particulate matter (PM10 and 
PM2.5) and nitrogen dioxide (NO2). As well as having direct effects, these pollutants can 
combine in the atmosphere to form ozone, a harmful air pollutant (and potent greenhouse 
gas) which can be transported great distances by weather systems. 
 
8.94 Defra carries out an annual national assessment of air quality using modelling and 
monitoring to determine compliance with EU Limit Values. It is important that the potential 
impact of new development on air quality is taken into account in planning where the 
national assessment indicates that relevant limits have been exceeded or are near the 
limit. 
 
8.95 Air quality can also affect biodiversity and may therefore impact on our international 
obligations under the Habitats Directive. 
 
8.96 The EIA submitted as part of the application has included a chapter on Air Quality 
which has been considered by Doncaster's Pollution Control team. It has been 
commented that the information submitted with the application identifies the report uses 
standard methodology, models and baseline data from recognised sources and is well-
organised giving confidence to the conclusions within.  
 
8.97 It is reasonable to conclude that the development is not likely to result in a potential 
exceedence of the objectives; however the development will contribute to an overall 
increase in emissions, therefore with the inclusion of a condition air quality mitigation plan 
would result in no objections being raised by Doncaster's Pollution Control Team. A further 
condition has been suggested which requires details of the electrical charging points 
within the development site.  
 
  

Page 37



Aviation 
 
8.98 Whilst it is recognised that large proportions of the application are submitted in 
outline form, the proposal includes an indicative master plan including a new  water body 
and indicatively the position of what is designated 'Food and beverage' area containing a 
hotel as well as retail elements referred to above. Given the proximity of the airport to the 
development site, consideration has been given to both the height of the proposed 
buildings/structures on the site as well as the possibility for bird strike resulting from the 
creation of water on the site.  
 
8.99 National Air Traffic Services (NATS) is the main Air Navigation Service Provider in 
the United Kingdom. NATS have confirmed that they have no objections to the proposal.  
 
8.100 Doncaster Robin Hood Airport have also been consulted and have commented that 
whilst there are no objections to the proposal, suitable worded conditions should be 
included which require information in relation to cranes being used as part of the 
development and a wildlife habitat management plan (WHMP). During the course of the 
application a WHMP has been provided and Robin Hood Airport have been re-consulted 
on the basis of this information supplied and have requested that a revised condition be 
imposed requiring the development to be carried out in accordance with the submitted 
information.  
 
Network Rail 
 
8.101 The site lies directly to the north of the Lincoln to Doncaster railway line and the 
new site entrance is located some 118m from a bridge crossing the railway (taken from 
the centre line of the bridge to the junction of the roundabout). As a result Network Rail 
have been consulted as part of the application and have commented that Network Rail 
has no objection in principle to the development.  The sections of the Transport 
Assessment relating to the Hayfields level crossing has satisfactorily assured Network Rail 
that the impact from the proposed development would be minimal. Network Rail have 
requested a number of conditions and informatives which aim to safeguard the integrity of 
the railway network and these have been incorporated into the construction  management 
plan condition suggested as well as separate conditions relating to earthworks and 
groundwork excavation.  
 
Archaeology 
 
8.102 In March 2012, the Department for Communities and Local Government published 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). This replaced PPS5: Planning for the 
Historic Environment. The NPPF is supported by guidance given in the National Planning 
Practice Guide (PPG) and by specific Historic Environment Good Practice Guides issued 
by Historic England.  
 
8.103 Section 12 of NPPF (Conserving and enhancing the historic environment) states:  
Local planning authorities should set out in their Local Plan a positive strategy for the 
conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment including heritage assets most at 
risk through neglect, decay or other threats. In doing so they should recognise that 
heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and conserve them in a manner appropriate 
to their significance (para.126).  
 
  

Page 38



8.104 The ES submitted with the application has given some consideration to the 
archaeological implications on site. It set out that a field inspection was undertaken on 3rd 
May 2017, as part of the desk-based assessment. This included walkover surveys of the 
Proposed Development area and its environs, to identify visible cultural heritage features 
and to ascertain potential visual and setting impacts on Scheduled Monuments, listed 
buildings and conservation areas. 
 
8.105 Additional information was submitted during the course of the application including a 
Geophysical survey. Consultations have taken place with South Yorkshire Archaeology 
Service (SYAS) based upon this additional information and it has been commented that 
generally the information indicates that the site does not contain large amounts of 
archaeological interest. Some potential areas of interest have been identified within the 
Geophysical survey report, however it is considered that these areas of interest can be 
further investigated – to be secured via an appropriately worded condition.  
 
Loss of Agricultural Land 
 
8.106 Core Strategy CS18 refers specifically to Air, Water and Agricultural Lane.  Policy 
CS18 criterion (C) states that proposals will be supported which facilitate the efficient use 
of Doncaster's significant agricultural land and soil resources, including proposals which: 
 
1.  protect high quality agricultural land (grades 1, 2 and 3a) in so far as this is consistent 
with the Growth and Regeneration Strategy (as set out in Policy CS2); 
 
8.107 The land is classified at Grade 3b which is good to moderate.  Grade 3a is within 
the best and most versatile land (BVM) classification.  Therefore, the land is not deemed 
to be  best and most versatile. The land is currently farmed by different farmers for maize 
and fodder beet. 
 
8.108 The applicant sets out in the submitted Environmental Statement (ES) – specifically 
within the Socio-Economic chapter and the separate Economic Impact Statement that the 
loss of the agricultural land (which is not deemed to be the best and most versatile), 
delivers  both  environmental  and  financial  benefits  that  outweigh  the  retention  of  the  
land  for agricultural purposes.  The agricultural tenants support the proposal.  
Accordingly, the proposal for the change of  use  of  the  land  from  agricultural  to  
recreation  and  leisure  does  not  result  in  the  loss  of  high  quality agricultural land 
and is therefore consistent with the concerns of Core Strategy Policy CS18. 
 
Mineral impact 
 
8.109 The site is located within a mineral safeguarding area adjacent to the former 
Hanson Hurst Lane Sand and Gravel Quarry as defined by the Doncaster UDP.   
 
8.110 An extension to the Austerfield quarry has been granted planning permission and 
along with a further approval for the Finningley quarry,  this gives a sand and gravel bank 
of 14.5 years for the borough which is double the national requirement of 7 years.   
 
8.111 The applicant puts forward that due to the proximity of the local wildlife sites, 
location of the railway line, public right of way and residential properties it would not be 
practicable or environmentally feasible to extract minerals from the site in any case.   
 
  

Page 39



8.112 Doncaster's Policy Team have been consulted as part of the determination of the 
application. Their consideration is principally two fold; firstly would the proposal sterilise 
the site in the future and secondly consideration is given to the mineral resources 
available to the Local Authority in order to deliver minerals during and beyond the 
development plan period (2011 - 2028). It has been commented that the sand is 
predominantly soft sand and is of limited value. 
 
8.113Taking account of the above, accordingly the proposal complies with policies M4 of 
the UDP, CS20 of the Core Strategy and NPPF Chapter 13. 
 
Security of the site. 
 
8.114 The NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should "create safe and 
accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not 
undermine quality of life". 
 
8.115 When preparing local planning policies, local authorities should stay up-to-date with 
security risks in their area and take steps to reduce vulnerability and increase resilience, 
the framework says. It adds that councils are expected to work with the Ministry of 
Defence strategic planning team and local advisors to ensure they take into account the 
latest information on defence, security, and high risk sites for malicious threats. 
 
8.116 PPG advises councils that "designing in community safety" and "taking 
proportionate security measures" should be a central consideration in the planning and 
delivery of new development and substantial refurbishments. 
 
8.117 The guidance invites local authorities to consider how they will consult with their 
police and crime commissioners on planning applications and how they will work with their 
local police force on other planning matters. Crime, including terrorism, should not be 
addressed separately from other design considerations, the guidance says. 
 
8.118 Other key elements of the guidance are as follows. Where risks are identified, 
councils should work with the police and other partners to develop a strategy to guide 
development proposals and "create safer places and buildings that are less vulnerable to 
terrorist attack and, should an attack take place, where people are better protected from 
its impact". 
 
8.119 Local authorities should encourage use of the pre-application process to discuss the 
security measures that may be necessary. Discussions with counter-terrorism security 
advisors and police crime prevention design advisors can help ensure that applicants are 
aware of any security risks and the measures that can be taken to mitigate them "in a 
proportionate and well-designed manner". 
 
  

Page 40



8.120 During the course of the application, the Counter Terrorism Unit have been 
consulted and have commented on design aspects of the proposal and ensuring that 
vehicles are restricted to the designated car parking areas and that no unauthorised 
vehicles can be driven further into the site. The applicant has confirmed that the car park 
will be carefully managed during peak times in line with the traffic control measures and 
they will have security in place out of peak hours because of the hotel. A condition has 
been suggested which would require full details of counter terror techniques and 
prevention methods prior to the commencement of development.  
 
9.0 Summary and Conclusion 
 
9.1 In considering the application the Council have taken account of the material planning 
considerations including the principle of development, the impact visually and on the 
character of the area, highways issues, ecology and archaeological considerations, flood 
risk, aviation and air quality. Weighing in favour of the application are benefits associated 
with the proposal including job creation, economic growth, enhancing an existing tourist 
attraction and improving ecology and biodiversity. An Environmental Impact Assessment 
(EIA) has been submitted in line with the 2017 regulations and has considered the wider 
environmental impacts of the proposal and where necessary, sets out how any affects 
would be mitigated.  
 
9.2 Careful consideration has taken place with Doncaster's Highways Development 
Control Team, Safer Roads Team and Transportation Team in order to critically assess 
the information that has been submitted. Highway congestion and safety were principally 
the main issue of concern raised by the local community and analysis of the solutions 
proposed has resulted in Doncaster's highways teams raising no objections to the 
proposal subject to suitably worded conditions and subject to the signing of a Section 106 
agreement.   
 
9.3 In conclusion having balanced all of the material planning considerations, it is 
considered that the proposal adheres to the relevant local and national policies having 
regard to Doncaster's Unitary Development Plan, Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. No objections have been received from consultees in relation to the 
proposal subject to conditions. 
 
The above objections, considerations and resulting recommendation have had 
regard to Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European Convention for 
Human Rights Act 1998.  The recommendation will not interfere with the applicant’s 
and/or objector’s right to respect for his private and family life, his home and his 
correspondence. 
 
  

Page 41



RECOMMENDATION 

 
PLANNING PERMISSION BE GRANTED SUBJECT TO THE COMPLETION OF A 
LEGAL AGREEMENT UNDER SECTION 106 OF THE TOWN AND COUNTRY 
PLANNING ACT 1990 (AS AMENDED) 
 
PLANNING COMMITTEE RESOLVE TO GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION FOR THE 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT, SUBJECT TO THE COMPLETION OF AN AGREEMENT 
UNDER SECTION 106 OF THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 (AS 
AMENDED) IN RELATION TO THE FOLLOWING MATTERS: 
 

A) Travel Plan Monitoring 

 
B) Travel Plan Bond 

 
C) Commuted sum for signal junction improvements 

 
D) Retrospective contributions to major infrastructure projects 

 
THE HEAD OF DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT BE AUTHORISED TO ISSUE THE 
PLANNING PERMISSION ON COMPLETION OF THE AGREEMENT 
 
 
Planning Permission GRANTED (Sec106) subject to the following conditions. 
 

 
 
01.  U55621 PART 1) Full planning permission for the change of use of land to 

facilitate expansion of Yorkshire Wildlife Park, creation of new access,  
parking and associated works 

 
02.  STAT1 The development to which this permission relates must be begun not 

later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this 
permission.  

  REASON 
  Condition required to be imposed by Section 91(as amended) of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
03.  ACC1 The development hereby permitted must be carried out and 

completed entirely in accordance with the terms of this permission and 
the details shown on the approved plans and specifications.  

  REASON 
  To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 

application as approved. 
 
  

Page 42



04.  U57292 The rating level of sound emitted from any fixed plant and/or 
machinery associated with the development shall not exceed the 
agreed noise level of LAeq,1hour 35dBA between the hours of 0700 
and 2300 and LAeq,15min 35dBA between the hours of 2300 and 
0700 at the boundary of nearest noise sensitive premises.  All 
measurements shall be made in accordance with the methodology of 
BS4142 (2014) (Methods for rating and assessing industrial and 
commercial sound) and/or its subsequent amendments.  

  Where access to the boundary of the  nearest sound sensitive 
property is not possible, measurements shall be undertaken at an 
appropriate location and corrected to establish the noise levels at the 
nearest sound sensitive property.  

  REASON: 
  To protect the amenities of nearby residents. 
 
05.  U57293 No deliveries or despatches shall be made to or from the site, and no 

delivery or despatch vehicles shall enter or leave the site (whether 
laden or unladen), before the hours of 0700 or after 2000 Monday to 
Saturday, or before the hours of 0900 or after the 2000 Sundays and 
Public Holidays . 

  REASON:  
  To protect the amenities of nearby residents. 
 
06.  U57294 No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, 

until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved 
statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The 
statement shall provide for: 

    
  i)             the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors  
  ii)            loading and unloading of plant and materials  
  iii)           storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 

development  
  iv)           the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including 

decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate  
  v)            wheel washing facilities  
  vi)           measures to control noise and the emission of dust and dirt 

during construction  
  vii)          a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 

demolition       and construction works 
  viii)   A scheme to satisfy Network Rail's comments in relation to rail 

safety. 
  ix) the means of enclosure of the construction sites,  
  x) any proposed external security lighting installation;,  
  xi) routing of contractors' vehicles.  
  REASON:  
  o safeguard the living conditions of neighbouring residents and in the 

interests of highway and rail safety. 
 
  

Page 43



07.  U57295 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby granted a 
scheme for the protection of all retained trees that complies with 
clause 6.2 of British Standard 5837: 2012 Trees in Relation to Design, 
Demolition and Construction - Recommendations shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Tree 
protection shall be implemented on site in accordance with the 
approved details and the local planning authority notified of 
implementation to approve the setting out of the tree protection 
scheme before any equipment, machinery or materials have been 
brought on to site for the purposes of the development. Thereafter, all 
tree protection shall be maintained in full accordance with the 
approved details until all equipment, machinery and surplus materials 
have been removed from the site, unless the local planning authority 
gives its written approval to any variation. Nothing shall be stored or 
placed in any area fenced in accordance with this condition and the 
ground levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any 
excavation be made, without the written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

  REASON  
  To ensure that all trees are protected from damage during 

construction in accordance with core strategy policy CS16: Valuing 
our natural environment. 

 
08.  U57296 The development shall not commence until a scheme for surface 

water disposal has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The scheme shall be designed to ensure 
infiltration systems are only used where it has been demonstrated that 
they will not pose a risk to groundwater quality. Only surface water 
from roofs and paved areas not accessible to vehicles should be 
discharged to soakaway. The scheme shall be implemented as 
approved.   

  REASON 
  Part of the development site is within Source Protection Zone 1 and, 

as such, the protection of controlled waters is of high importance. 
 
09.  U57297 If, during development, contamination not previously identified is 

found to be present at the site then no further development (unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority) shall be 
carried out until the developer has submitted a verification and 
remediation strategy to the local planning authority detailing how this 
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and obtained written 
approval from the local planning authority. The remediation strategy 
shall be implemented as approved.   

  REASON 
  Given the proximity of the site to a public water supply borehole and 

the location of the site on a principal aquifer, as well as potentially 
contaminative site uses in close proximity of the site, if any 
contamination is identified during the site redevelopment, it should be 
investigated, assessed and remediated as appropriate. 

 
  

Page 44



10.  U57298 Any soil or soil forming materials brought to site for use in play areas,  
soft landscaping, filing and level raising shall be tested for 
contamination and suitability for use on site. Proposals for 
contamination testing including testing schedules, sampling 
frequencies and allowable contaminant concentrations (as determined 
by appropriate risk assessment) and source material information shall 
be submitted to and be approved in writing by the LPA prior to any soil 
or soil forming materials being brought onto site. The approved 
contamination testing shall then be carried out and verification 
evidence submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA prior to any 
soil and soil forming material being brought on to site.  

  REASON 
  To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of human 

health and the wider environment and pursuant to guidance set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
11.  U57299 Prior to any crane or high reach equipment in excess of 10m above 

ground level being brought onto site full details of the equipment used 
shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

  REASON  
  In the interests of aviation safety. 
 
12.  U57300 Prior to the operation/opening of the development hereby approved, 

an air quality mitigation plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. This plan should demonstrate 
how the damage costs (in addition to those requirements agreed 
against other matters) have been utilised to offset vehicle emissions 
during the lifetime of the development. 

  REASON  
  In order to safeguard air quality. 
 
13.  U57301 Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved, details of 

electric vehicle charging provision shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. Installation shall comply with 
current guidance/advice. The first dwelling/development shall not be 
occupied until the approved connection has been installed and is 
operational and shall be retained for the lifetime of the development. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 

  REASON  
  To contribute towards a reduction in emissions in accordance with air 

quality objectives and providing sustainable travel choice in 
accordance with policies CS9 and CS18 of the Doncaster Council 
Core Strategy. 

 
  

Page 45



14.  U57302 The construction of soakaways for storm, surface water drainage, 
surface water retention ponds/tanks, SuDS or flow control systems 
should not take place within 20m of the Network Rail boundary unless 
otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
conjunction with Network Rail.  

  REASON  
  In order to safeguard the integrity of the rail network. 
 
15.  U57303 Prior to commencement of any works near  to the rail undertakers 

boundary fence, full details of excavations and earthworks to be 
carried out near the railway undertaker's boundary fence should be 
submitted for the approval of the Local Planning Authority acting in 
consultation with the railway undertaker and the works shall only be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details . 

  REASON  
  In order to safeguard the integrity of the rail network. 
 
16.  U57304 The development hereby granted shall not be begun until details of 

the foul water and land drainage systems and all related works 
necessary to drain the site have been submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority. These works shall be carried out 
concurrently with the development and the drainage system shall be 
operating to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
occupation of the development .  

  REASON 
  To ensure that the site is connected to suitable drainage systems and 

to ensure that full details thereof are approved by the Local Planning 
Authority before any works begin. 

 
17.  U57305 No building shall be erected within 8 metres of the water course or 

culvert which passes through/runs adjacent to the site unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  REASON  
  To ensure adequate access at all times and to protect the culvert from 

damage 
 
18.  U57306 All surface water run off from the site, excepting roof water, shall be 

discharged to the public surface water sewer/land drainage system or 
Highway Drain via a suitable oil/petrol/grit interceptor.  Details of these 
arrangements shall be approved by the Local Planning Authority prior 
to the commencement of the development and they shall be fully 
operational before the site is brought into use .  

  REASON 
  To avoid pollution of the public sewer and land drainage system. 
 
  

Page 46



19.  U57307 No development in shall take place (including groundworks and 
vegetation clearance) until a construction environmental management 
plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority.  The CEMP shall include the following: 

   
  - Identification of Biodiversity Protection Zones.  
  - Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive 

working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction on 
species and habitats (this may be provided as a set of method 
statements covering the different ecological receptors/species on the 
site).  

  - Indication of where updated protected species surveys will be 
needed to inform working practices. 

  - The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to 
biodiversity features. 

  - The times during construction when ecologists need to be 
present on site to oversee works. 

  - Robust mitigation measures designed to protect groundwater 
during all stages of development. 

  - Responsible persons and lines of communication. 
  - Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 
   
  The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented 

throughout the construction period strictly in accordance with the 
approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority.   

  REASON 
  In line with Core Strategy Policy 16 to ensure the ongoing ecological 

interests of the site are maintained. 
 
20.  U57308 Prior to the development hereby granted being brought into use a 

lighting design strategy for biodiversity for all areas of the site to be lit 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.  The strategy shall: 

  - identify those areas/features of the site that are particularly 
sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance in or around 
their foraging or commuting routes.   

  - show how and where external lighting will be installed (through 
the provision of appropriate lighting contor plans and technical 
specifications) so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be 
lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their territories.   

   
  All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the 

specifications and locations set out in the strategy, and these shall be 
maintained thereafter in accordance with the strategy.  Under no 
circumstances should and other external lighting be installed without 
prior consent from the local planning authority. 

  REASON 
  In line with Core Strategy Policy 16 to ensure the ongoing interests of 

the site with respect to foraging and commuting bats. 
 
  

Page 47



21.  U57309 Prior to the commencement the development hereby approved full 
details of a scheme of landscaping shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless as shall be 
specifically approved by the Local Planning Authority, the landscape 
scheme shall include a plan indicating the planting location of all trees, 
shrubs and grasslands; seeding and planting densities; a schedule 
including the nursery stock specification for all shrubs and trees in 
compliance with British Standard 3936: Part 1: 1992 Specification for 
Trees and Shrubs and planting density/numbers; a detailed 
specification for engineered tree pit construction that utilises a 
professionally recognised method of construction to provide the 
minimum rooting volume set out in the Council's Development 
Guidance and Requirements supplementary planning document and a 
load-bearing capacity equivalent to BS EN 124 Class C250 for any 
paved surface above; a specification for planting including details of 
tree support, tree pit surfacing, aeration and irrigation; a maintenance 
specification and a timescale of implementation, which shall be within 
3 months of completion of the development or alternative trigger to be 
agreed. Thereafter, the landscape scheme shall be implemented in 
full accordance with the approved details and the Local Planning 
Authority notified prior to backfilling any engineered tree pits to inspect 
and confirm compliance and within seven days of the completion of 
landscape works to inspect and approve practical completion in 
writing. Any tree or shrub planted as part of the scheme that is 
removed or is found to be dying, diseased or seriously damaged 
within five years of practical completion of the planting works shall be 
replaced during the next available planting season in full accordance 
with the approved scheme, unless the local planning authority gives 
its written approval to any variation.  

  REASON 
  In the interests of environmental quality and compliance with Core 

Strategy policy CS16: Valuing our natural environment. 
 
22.  HIGH1 Before the development is brought into use, that part of the site to be 

used by vehicles shall be surfaced, drained and where necessary 
marked out in a manner to be approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. 

  REASON 
  To ensure adequate provision for the disposal of surface water and 

ensure that the use of the land will not give rise to mud hazards at 
entrance/exit points in the interests of public safety. 

 
23.  HIGH2 The vehicle turning space as shown on the approved plans shall be 

constructed before the development is brought into use and shall 
thereafter be maintained as such.  

  REASON 
  To avoid the necessity of vehicles reversing on to or from the highway 

and creating a highway hazard. 
 
  

Page 48



24.  HIGH3 Before the development hereby permitted is brought into use, the 
parking as shown on the approved plans shall be provided. The 
parking area shall not be used otherwise than for the parking of 
private motor vehicles belonging to the occupants of and visitors to 
the development hereby approved. 

  REASON 
  To ensure that adequate parking provision is retained on site. 
 
25.  HIGH4 The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until 

details of secure cycle parking facilities for the occupants of, and/or 
visitors to the development have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. These facilities shall be fully 
implemented and made available for use prior to the occupation of the 
development hereby permitted and shall thereafter be retained for use 
at all times. 

  REASON 
  To ensure that satisfactory facilities for the parking of cycles are 

provided and to encourage travel by means other than private motor 
vehicles and to comply with policy CS9 of the Doncaster Core 
Strategy. 

 
26.  U57815 Detailed engineering drawings for the proposed access arrangement 

and alteration to the existing public highway on Hurst Lane shall be 
submitted for inspection and approval by the Local Highway Authority 
before works commence on site. The construction of the access and 
alteration to existing highway shall thereafter be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and completed prior to first use 
of the access and associated parking by visitors to the park.  

  REASON  
  In the interests of road safety 
 
27.  U57816 No development shall take place until the final detailed design of the 

offsite highway mitigation works at the junction of Hurst Lane / B1396 / 
School Lane have been approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The highway works shall be completed and operational 
before the approved access and associated parking are used by 
visitors to the park. 

  REASON  
  In the interests of road safety 
 
28.  U57817 Bus stops shall be subject to bus stop clearway restrictions and are to 

be implemented prior to the development becoming operational.  
  REASON  
  In the interests of road safety. 
 
  

Page 49



29.  U57818 The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until a 
Construction Traffic Management  Plan (CTMP) for that phase of 
development is submitted to and subsequently approved in writing by 
the Local Highway Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction phase. I would expect the CTMP to 
contain information relating to (but not limited to): 

  o Volumes and types of construction vehicles 
  o Site access 
  o Parking of contractors vehicles 
  o identification of delivery routes;  
  o Contractors method for controlling construction traffic and 

adherence to routes 
  o Size, route and numbers of abnormal loads 
  o Swept path analysis (as required) 
  o Construction Period 
  o Temporary signage 
  o Measures to be taken within the curtilage of the site to prevent 

the deposition of mud and debris on the public highway.  
   
  REASON:  In the interests of highway safety 
 
30.  U57819 An area wide signage scheme for the site shall be approved in writing 

prior to works commencing on site. The approved signage scheme 
shall be implemented before the approved access and associated 
parking are used by visitors to the park. 

  REASON 
  In the interests of road safety 
 
31.  U57820 The developer shall employ a competent MOVA engineer to revalidate 

MOVA once the new access is open to the public and then again 
within 12 months of the first revalidation.  The information shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

  REASON  
  In the interests of road safety 
 
32.  U55624 PART 2) Outline permission with consideration of animal enclosures, 

visitor hub, service compound,  energy centre and connecting bridges. 
 
33.  U57310 The development to which this permission relates must be begun not 

later than whichever is the later of the following dates:- i) The 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission or ii) The 
expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved matters 
or in the case of different dates the final approval of the last such 
matter to be approved.  

  REASON 
  Condition required to be imposed by Section 92 (as amended) of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
  

Page 50



34.  U57311 Approval of the details of the access, layout, scale, appearance and 
landscaping of the site (hereinafter referred to as reserved matters) 
shall be obtained from the local planning authority before the 
commencement of any works. 

  REASON 
  To enable the local planning authority to control the development in 

detail and to comply with Section 92 (as amended) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
35.  U57312 The development permitted by this planning permission shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved flood risk assessment 
(FRA) by Mott MacDonald, referenced 381569 / 007 / B and dated 2 
August 2017, and the following mitigation measure detailed within the 
FRA:  

   - Finished floor levels for the animal sleeping quarters shall be set no 
lower than 3.31m above Ordnance Datum (AOD ) unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

   The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to 
occupation and subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing 
arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other period 
as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning 
authority.  

  REASON 
  To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development including 

animal livestock and visitors.   
 
36.  U57313 The rating level of sound emitted from any fixed plant and/or 

machinery associated with the development shall not exceed the 
agreed noise level of LAeq,1hour 35dBA between the hours of 0700 
and 2300 and LAeq,15min 35dBA between the hours of 2300 and 
0700 at the boundary of nearest noise sensitive premises.  All 
measurements shall be made in accordance with the methodology of 
BS4142 (2014) (Methods for rating and assessing industrial and 
commercial sound) and/or its subsequent amendments.  

  Where access to the boundary of the  nearest sound sensitive 
property is not possible, measurements shall be undertaken at an 
appropriate location and corrected to establish the noise levels at the 
nearest sound sensitive property.  

  REASON: 
  To protect the amenities of nearby residents. 
 
37.  U57314 No deliveries or despatches shall be made to or from the site, and no 

delivery or despatch vehicles shall enter or leave the site (whether 
laden or unladen), before the hours of 0700 or after 2000 Monday to 
Saturday, or before the hours of 0900 or after the 2000 Sundays and 
Public Holidays . 

  REASON:  
  To protect the amenities of nearby residents. 
 
  

Page 51



38.  U57315 No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, 
until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved 
statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The 
statement shall provide for: 

    
  i)             the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors  
  ii)            loading and unloading of plant and materials  
  iii)           storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 

development  
  iv)           the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including 

decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate  
  v)            wheel washing facilities  
  vi)           measures to control noise and the emission of dust and dirt 

during construction  
  vii)          a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 

demolition       and construction works 
  viii)   A scheme to satisfy Network Rail's comments in relation to rail 

safety. 
  ix) the means of enclosure of the construction sites,  
  x) any proposed external security lighting installation;,  
  xi) routing of contractors' vehicles.  
  REASON:  
  To safeguard the living conditions of neighbouring residents and in 

the interests of highway and rail safety. 
 
39.  U57316 Prior to the commencement of each stage of the development hereby 

granted a scheme for the protection of all retained trees that complies 
with clause 6.2 of British Standard 5837: 2012 Trees in Relation to 
Design, Demolition and Construction - Recommendations shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Tree protection shall be implemented on site in accordance with the 
approved details and the local planning authority notified of 
implementation to approve the setting out of the tree protection 
scheme before any equipment, machinery or materials have been 
brought on to site for the purposes of the development. Thereafter, all 
tree protection shall be maintained in full accordance with the 
approved details until all equipment, machinery and surplus materials 
have been removed from the site, unless the local planning authority 
gives its written approval to any variation. Nothing shall be stored or 
placed in any area fenced in accordance with this condition and the 
ground levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any 
excavation be made, without the written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

  REASON  
  To ensure that all trees are protected from damage during 

construction in accordance with core strategy policy CS16: Valuing 
our natural environment. 

 
  

Page 52



40.  U57317 The development shall not commence until a scheme for surface 
water disposal has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The scheme shall be designed to ensure 
infiltration systems are only used where it has been demonstrated that 
they will not pose a risk to groundwater quality. Only surface water 
from roofs and paved areas not accessible to vehicles should be 
discharged to soakaway. The scheme shall be implemented as 
approved.   

  REASON 
  Part of the development site is within Source Protection Zone 1 and, 

as such, the protection of controlled waters is of high importance. 
 
41.  U57318 If, during development, contamination not previously identified is 

found to be present at the site then no further development (unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority) shall be 
carried out until the developer has submitted a verification and 
remediation strategy to the local planning authority detailing how this 
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and obtained written 
approval from the local planning authority. The remediation strategy 
shall be implemented as approved.   

  REASON 
  Given the proximity of the site to a public water supply borehole and 

the location of the site on a principal aquifer, as well as potentially 
contaminative site uses in close proximity of the site, if any 
contamination is identified during the site redevelopment, it should be 
investigated, assessed and remediated as appropriate. 

 
42.  U57319 Any soil or soil forming materials brought to site for use in play areas,  

soft landscaping, filing and level raising shall be tested for 
contamination and suitability for use on site. Proposals for 
contamination testing including testing schedules, sampling 
frequencies and allowable contaminant concentrations (as determined 
by appropriate risk assessment) and source material information shall 
be submitted to and be approved in writing by the LPA prior to any soil 
or soil forming materials being brought onto site. The approved 
contamination testing shall then be carried out and verification 
evidence submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA prior to any 
soil and soil forming material being brought on to site.  

  REASON 
  To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of human 

health and the wider environment and pursuant to guidance set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
43.  U57320 Prior to any crane or high reach equipment in excess of 10m above 

ground level being brought onto site full details of the equipment used 
shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

  REASON  
  In the interests of aviation safety 
 
  

Page 53



44.  U57321 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the submitted Wildlife Habitat Management Plan 
(WHMP) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

  REASON  
  In the interests of aviation safety. 
 
45.  U57322 No development shall take place in implementation of this permission 

until a report (the initial SBEM report carried out as part of Building 
Regulations will be sufficient information in many cases) has been 
submitted to the local planning authority and approved in writing from 
them, explaining how CO2 emissions from the development will be 
reduced by providing at least 10 Percent of the development's energy 
through on-site renewable energy equipment or improvements to the 
fabric efficiency of the building. The carbon savings, which result from 
proposed measures, will be above and beyond what is required to 
comply with Part L of Building Regulations. Unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the development shall then 
proceed in accordance with the approved report. Before any building 
is occupied or sold, the local planning authority shall be satisfied that 
the measures have been installed, which will enable the planning 
condition to be fully discharged . 

 
46.  U57323 Prior to the submission of the visitor hub reserved matters application, 

a BREEAM pre-assessment, or equivalent assessment, shall be 
submitted for approval demonstrating how BREEAM 'Very Good' will 
be met.  Unless otherwise agreed, the development must take place 
in accordance with the approved assessment.  Prior to the occupation 
of any building, a post construction review should be carried out by a 
licensed assessor and submitted for approval. This will enable the 
planning condition to be fully discharged. 

  Advice should be sought from a licensed BREEAM assessor at an 
early stage to ensure that the required performance rating can be 
achieved.  A list of licensed assessors can be found at 
www.breeam.org . 

  REASON 
  In the interests of sustainability and to minimise the impact of the 

development on the effects of climate change. 
 
47.  U57324 Prior to submission of the first reserved matters applications for the 

Animal attraction areas and the visitor facilities, a design guide shall 
be agreed with the LPA for that phase of development for which 
permission is sought, covering the following matters: architectural 
appearance including materials palette, signage, animal attractions, 
footpaths, lighting,  hard and soft landscaping and boundary 
treatments. Unless otherwise agreed with the LPA the reserved 
matters application will then take place in accordance with the 
approved guide for that phase. 

  REASON  
  In order to co-ordinate and safeguard the visual appearance of the 

site. 
 
  Page 54



48.  U57325 Prior to the operation/opening of the development hereby approved, 
an air quality mitigation plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. This plan should demonstrate 
how the damage costs (in addition to those requirements agreed 
against other matters) have been utilised to offset vehicle emissions 
during the lifetime of the development. 

  REASON  
  In order to safeguard air quality. 
 
49.  U57326 The construction of soakaways for storm, surface water drainage, 

surface water retention ponds/tanks, SuDS or flow control systems 
should not take place within 20m of the Network Rail boundary  unless 
otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
conjunction with Network Rail.  

  REASON  
  In order to safeguard the integrity of the rail network. 
 
50.  U57327 Prior to commencement of any works within 10m  of the rail 

undertakers boundary fence, full details of excavations and 
earthworks to be carried out within 10m of the railway undertaker's 
boundary fence should be submitted for the approval of the Local 
Planning Authority acting in consultation with the railway undertaker 
and the works shall only be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details . 

  REASON  
  In order to safeguard the integrity of the rail network. 
 
51.  U57328 The development hereby granted shall not be begun until details of 

the foul water and land drainage systems and all related works 
necessary to drain the site have been submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority. These works shall be carried out 
concurrently with the development and the drainage system shall be 
operating to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
occupation of the development .  

  REASON 
  To ensure that the site is connected to suitable drainage systems and 

to ensure that full details thereof are approved by the Local Planning 
Authority before any works begin. 

 
52.  U57329 No building shall be erected within 8 metres of the water course or 

culvert which passes through/runs adjacent to the site. 
  REASON  
  To ensure adequate access at all times and to protect the culvert from 

damage 
 
  

Page 55



53.  U57330 All surface water run off from the site, excepting roof water, shall be 
discharged to the public surface water sewer/land drainage system or 
Highway Drain via a suitable oil/petrol/grit interceptor.  Details of these 
arrangements shall be approved by the Local Planning Authority prior 
to the commencement of each phase of development and they shall 
be fully operational before the site is brought into use .   

  REASON 
  To avoid pollution of the public sewer and land drainage system. 
 
54.  U57331 Prior to the submission of the first reserved matters a phasing plan 

shall be submitted and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development approved shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved phasing plan unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. That's fine thank you. 

  REASON 
  To allow flexibility to accommodate the needs of the applicant and 

potential completions and therefore allow for occupation over different 
timescales, in line with the aspirations of the NPPF 2012. 

 
55.  U57332 On submission of reserved matters for any development relating to 

the proposed bridge crossings of the River Torne the results of up to 
date detailed bat activity surveys along both sides of the river corridor 
shall be submitted to the local authority for approval in writing. The 
surveys shall be carried out in line with the guidance by the Bat 
Conservation Trust and will be used to inform the design of the 
bridges.  Any necessary mitigation will also be agreed in writing with 
the local authority as part of the reserved matters application. 

  REASON 
  In line with Core Strategy Policy 16 to ensure the ongoing ecological 

interests of the site with respect to bats. 
 
56.  U57333 No development in shall take place (including groundworks and 

vegetation clearance) until a construction environmental management 
plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority.  The CEMP shall include the following. 

  - Identification of Biodiversity Protection Zones.  
  - Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive 

working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction on 
species and habitats (this may be provided as a set of method 
statements covering the different ecological receptors/species on the 
site).  

  - Robust mitigation measures designed to protect groundwater 
during all stages of the site redevelopment. 

  - Indication of where updated protected species surveys will be 
needed to inform working practices. 

  - The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to 
biodiversity features. 

  - The times during construction when ecologists need to be 
present on site to oversee works. 

  
  

Page 56



 - Responsible persons and lines of communication. 
  - Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 
  The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented 

throughout the construction period strictly in accordance with the 
approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority.   

  REASON 
  In line with Core Strategy Policy 16 to ensure the ongoing ecological 

interests of the site are maintained.   
 
57.  U57334 Management plans for Insley Plantation and the Torne Valley local 

wildlife sites (to include the areas of these sites owned by the 
applicant) shall be submitted to the local planning authority for 
approval in writing prior to any operational development. The 
management plans shall include the following: 

  - Description and evaluation of the features to be managed. 
  - Aims and objectives of management. 
  - Appropriate management prescriptions for achieving aims and 

objectives. 
  - Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan 

capable of being rolled forward over a five year period).  
  - Details of the organisation that will be responsible for 

implementation of the plan. 
  - Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures. 
  The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the 

approved details. 
  REASON 
  In line with Core Strategy Policy 16 to ensure the ecological interests 

of local wildlife sites on the site. 
   
 
58.  U57335 On submission of the first reserved matters application a landscaping 

and ecological enhancement plan shall be developed for the whole 
site and be submitted to the local planning authority for approval in 
writing. This plan shall include the following: 

  Aims and objectives for the sites landscape and ecological 
enhancement plan. 

  Details of: 
  -  the types of habitats that will be created on site. 
  -  the broad zones where particular habitats will be focused to deliver 

the greatest benefits to biodiversity. 
  - indicative species lists for each proposed habitat. 
  - how the proposals fit with the goals of the Torne Catchment 

Partnership. 
  - species specific habitat enhancement measures for reptiles, birds 

and bats and a broad indication of where on the site these would be. 
  Management prescriptions for retained and created habitats. 
  Preparation of a work schedule for each habitat (including an annual 

work plan capable of being rolled forward over a five year period).  
  Details of the organisation that will be responsible for implementation 

of the plan. 
  
  Page 57



 Retained and created habitats on the site will be managed in 
accordance with the approved plan unless agreed in writing as 
otherwise by the local planning authority. 

  REASON  
  In line with Core Strategy Policy 16 to ensure the ecological interests 

of local wildlife sites on the site. 
 
59.  U57336 To accompany the submission of each reserved matters application a 

lighting design strategy for biodiversity for all areas of the site to be lit 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.  The strategy shall: 

  a) identify those areas/features of the site that are particularly 
sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance in or around 
their foraging or commuting routes.   

  b) show how and where external lighting will be installed (through 
the provision of appropriate lighting contor plans and technical 
specifications) so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be 
lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their territories.   

  All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the 
specifications and locations set out in the strategy, and these shall be 
maintained thereafter in accordance with the strategy.  Under no 
circumstances should and other external lighting be installed without 
prior consent from the local planning authority. 

  REASON 
  In line with Core Strategy Policy 16 to ensure the ongoing interests of 

the site with respect to foraging and commuting bats. 
 
60.  U57337 To accompany the submission of each reserved matters application 

full details of a scheme of landscaping shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless as shall be 
specifically approved by the Local Planning Authority, the landscape 
scheme shall include a plan indicating the planting location of all trees, 
shrubs, grasslands and wetlands; seeding and planting densities; a 
schedule including the nursery stock specification for all shrubs and 
trees in compliance with British Standard 3936: Part 1: 1992 
Specification for Trees and Shrubs and planting density/numbers; a 
detailed specification for engineered tree pit construction that utilises a 
professionally recognised method of construction to provide the 
minimum rooting volume set out in the Council's Development 
Guidance and Requirements supplementary planning document and a 
load-bearing capacity equivalent to BS EN 124 Class C250 for any 
paved surface above; a specification for planting including details of 
tree support, tree pit surfacing, aeration and irrigation; a maintenance 
specification and a timescale of implementation, which shall be within 
3 months of completion of the development or alternative trigger to be 
agreed.  

  

Page 58



 Thereafter, the landscape scheme shall be implemented in full 
accordance with the approved details and the Local Planning 
Authority notified prior to backfilling any engineered tree pits to inspect 
and confirm compliance and within seven days of the completion of 
landscape works to inspect and approve practical completion in 
writing. Any tree or shrub planted as part of the scheme that is 
removed or is found to be dying, diseased or seriously damaged 
within five years of practical completion of the planting works shall be 
replaced during the next available planting season in full accordance 
with the approved scheme, unless the local planning authority gives 
its written approval to any variation.  

  REASON 
  In the interests of environmental quality and compliance with Core 

Strategy policy CS16: Valuing our natural environment. 
 
61.  U57821 The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until a 

Construction Traffic Management  Plan (CTMP) for that phase of 
development is submitted to and subsequently approved in writing by 
the Local Highway Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction phase. I would expect the CTMP to 
contain information relating to (but not limited to): 

  o Volumes and types of construction vehicles 
  o Site access 
  o Parking of contractors vehicles 
  o identification of delivery routes;  
  o Contractors method for controlling construction traffic and 

adherence to routes 
  o Size, route and numbers of abnormal loads 
  o Swept path analysis (as required) 
  o Construction Period 
  o Temporary signage 
  o Measures to be taken within the curtilage of the site to prevent 

the deposition of mud and debris on the public highway.  
   
  REASON:  In the interests of highway safety. 
 
62.  U57837 No building shall exceed 15m in height unless otherwise agreed in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
  REASON 
  In order to safeguard the character of the surrounding area 
 
63.  U57838 'Prior to the submission of any reserved matters application, an 

archaeological evaluation of the application area will be undertaken in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation that has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
Drawing upon the results of this field evaluation stage, a mitigation 
strategy for any further archaeological works and/or preservation in 
situ will be approved in writing with the local planning authority and 
then implemented.' 

   
  

Page 59



REASON 
  To ensure that the site is archaeologically evaluated in accordance 

with an approved scheme and that sufficient information on any 
archaeological remains exists to help determine any reserved matters 
and to comply with policy ENV38 of the Doncaster Unitary 
Development Plan. 

 
64. U57872 The development hereby approved shall be limited to 1.5 million 

visitors per annum unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. At 1.4 million visitors per annum the site owner 
shall contact the Council and shall re-assess the transport 
assessment which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  
REASON  
In order to ensure the highway networks operational capability 

 
INFORMATIVES 
 
01.  IQ171 INFORMATIVE  
 The developer shall consider incorporating all possible sustainability 

features into the design of the proposed development. 
 
02.  INF1B INFORMATIVE 
 The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may 

contain unrecorded coal mining related hazards.  If any coal mining 
feature is encountered during development, this should be reported 
immediately to the Coal Authority on 0345 762 6848. 

  
 Further information is also available on the Coal Authority website at: 
 www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority 
  
  
 This Standing Advice is valid from 1st January 2017 until 31st 

December 2018 
 
03.  U11927 INFORMATIVE 
 Landscaping details for each reserved matters application will be 

expected to show how they fit with the proposals set out in the 
overarching Landscaping and Ecological Enhancement Scheme and 
how the new habitats they create will be managed. 

 
04.  U11930 INFORMATIVE 
 Security of the railway boundary will need to be maintained at all times. 

If the works require temporary or permanent alterations to the mutual 
boundary the applicant must contact Network Rail's Asset Protection 
Project Manager. 

 
05.  U11931 INFORMATIVE 
 An Armco or similar barrier should be located in positions where 

vehicles may be in a position to drive into or roll onto the railway or 
damage the lineside fencing. Network Rail's existing fencing / wall must 
not be removed or damaged.  

  Page 60



Given the considerable number of vehicle movements likely provision 
should be made at each turning area/roadway/car parking area 
adjacent to the railway. This is in accord with the new guidance for 
road/rail vehicle incursion NR/LV/CIV/00012 following on from DfT 
advice issued in 2003, now updated to include risk of incursion from 
private land/roadways. 

 
06.  U11932 INFORMATIVE 
 Method statements may require to be submitted to Network Rail's Asset 

Protection Project Manager at the below address for approval prior to 
works commencing on site.  This should include an outline of the 
proposed method of construction, risk assessment in relation to the 
railway and construction traffic management plan. Where appropriate 
an asset protection agreement will have to be entered into. Where any 
works cannot be carried out in a "fail-safe" manner, it will be necessary 
to restrict those works to periods when the railway is closed to rail traffic 
i.e. "possession" which must be booked via Network Rail's Asset 
Protection Project Manager and are subject to a minimum prior notice 
period for booking of 20 weeks. Generally if excavations/piling/buildings 
are to be located within 10m of the railway boundary a method 
statement should be submitted for NR approval. 

  
 Network Rail (London North Eastern) 
 Floor 3B 
 George Stephenson House 
 Toft Green 
 York  
 Y01 6JT 
 
07.  U12001 INFORMATIVE 
 The detailed access arrangement / alterations  to the public highway as 

a result of this development proposal shall be subject to Road Safety 
Audits in accordance with DMRB Volume 5 Section 2 Part 2 (HD 
19/15). 

  
 Any costs associated with the alteration to the speed limit on Hurst 

Lane are to be borne by the applicant. 
 
08.  U12002 INFORMATIVE  
 Works carried out on the public highway by a developer or anyone else 

other than the Highway Authority shall be under the provisions of 
Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 and adoption of  new highway 
shall be carried out under Section 38 of the Highways Act. The S38 and 
S278 agreements must be in place before any works are commenced. 
There is a fee involved for the preparation of the agreement and for on-
site inspection. The applicant should make contact with Malc Lucas - 
Tel 01302 735110 as soon as possible to arrange the setting up of the 
agreement. 

  
  
  

Page 61



Doncaster Borough Council Permit Scheme (12th June 2012) - (Under 
section 34(2) of the Traffic Management Act 2004, the Secretary of 
State has approved the creation of the Doncaster Borough Council 
Permit Scheme for all works that take place or impact on streets 
specified as Traffic Sensitive or have a reinstatement category of 0, 1 
or 2.  Agreement under the Doncaster Borough Council Permit 
Scheme's provisions must be granted before works can take place.  
There is a fee involved for the coordination, noticing and agreement of 
the works.  The applicant should make contact with Paul Evans - Email: 
p.evans@doncaster.gov.uk or Tel 01302 735162 as soon as possible 
to arrange the setting up of the permit agreement. 

  
 Amendments to the existing street lighting as a result of the proposals 

is likely. Street lighting design and installation is generally undertaken 
by the Local Highway Authority. There is a fee payable for this service 
and the applicant should make contact with Malc Lucas - Tel 01302 
735110 as soon as possible. Further information on the selected DNO / 
IDNO together with the energy supplier will also be required as soon as 
possible as they directly affect the adoption process for the street 
lighting assets. 

 
09.  U12003 INFORMATIVE 
 The developer shall ensure that no vehicle leaving the development 

hereby permitted enter the public highway unless its wheels and 
chassis are clean. It should be noted that to deposit mud on the 
highway is an offence under provisions of The Highways Act 1980. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 62



Appendix 1 – History 

 

09/02068/FUL - Erection of lion house (6m x 30m) and erection of perimeter fencing to form animal 

compound. Application granted 21.12.2009 

09/02937/FUL - Erection of 2 no. 'L'  shaped stable blocks consisting of 16 stables and 1 store room 

(27.94m x 11.14m overall) following demolition of existing stable block. 26.01.2010 

10/02989/FUL - Erection of animal housing/foodstore (30m x 20m) and enclosure (hoofstock). Granted 

23.12.2010 

10/02990/FUL - Erection of animal housing (17.0m x 4.4m overall) and enclosure (big cats) Granted 

22.12.2010 

10/02991/FUL  -  Erection of pedestrian high level walkway and security fencing (7.8m high). Granted 

22.12.2010 

11/00587/FUL - Alterations and improvements to main entrance including installation of stone gate pillars 

and associated works. Application granted 28.04.2011 

11/02798/FUL - Retention of use of land as Wildlife Park, including retention of adventure playground, 

squirrel monkey enclosure, South American experience enclosure and retention of use of existing dwelling 

to two self contained units and office. Retention of use of existing play barn to reception area, retention of 

African lodge catering building and play barn building with attached baboon experience enclosure and siting 

of amphitheatre, shop, restaurant, toilets and additional animal enclosures. Granted 03.06.2013 

13/01732/FUL - Erection of bear housing (Approx 85.55sqm) and enclosure on approx 4.58ha of land. 

Application granted 15.10.2013 

13/01907/FULM - Erection of new main entrance incorporating new shop, glass canopies over doors and 

walkway to side, feature curved wall to entrance, five shop units and formation of new ticketing and entry 

points in main courtyard, erection of slide barn following demolition of some existing buildings including 

creation of  "African Village" walk through enclosure incorporating meerkat house, and timber fencing. 

Granted 02.12.2013 

14/01398/FUL - Formation of Painted Dog enclosure with erection of housing unit ( 5.21m  x  11.06m 

approx) thatched viewing hut (6m x 3m approx) and installation of secure fencing (retrospective). Pending 

consideration 

14/02752/FUL - Erection of pyramid tent (25m x 25m overall). Granted 14.07.2015 

14/02755/FUL - Erection of wc block (17.01m x 5.10m). Granted 18.03.2015 

14/02757/FUL - Erection of education centre (22.50m x 11.70m overall). Granted 18.03.2015 

15/00516/FUL - Erection of events tent (29.42m x 20.84m overall) (Retrospective) 23.07.2015 

15/00871/FUL - Formation of Giant Otter enclosure with erection of housing unit ( Approx 15m x 9m overall ) 

Granted 07.09.2015 

15/01102/FUL - Installation of single packaged biomass plant room (9.53m x 3.0 m x 4.10m high) Granted 

08.07.2015 

  

Page 63



15/01206/FUL - Erection of extension (13.95m x 6.48m) to existing offices to create new reception and retail 

unit. Granted 02.12.2015 

15/01263/FUL - Erection of retail unit for ticket sales with additional office space above. Granted 09.12.2015 

15/01570/FUL - Erection of visitor centre (781.02sqm overall including external decking) and formation of 

new vehicular access. Granted 21.09.2015 

15/01810/FULM - Erection of amphitheatre and ancillary buildings on approx 0.63ha of land. Pending 

consideration 

15/02040/FUL - Entrance road improvements. Granted 15.01.2016 

15/02236/FULM - Formation of African reserve and black rhino reserve including hoof stock enclosure 

(24.9m x 16.4m approx. overall), black rhino enclosure (36.2m x 16.6m approx. overall), public observation 

buildings, landscaping and fencing. Granted 14.01.2016 

15/02260/ADV - Display of 10 non illuminated hanging signs (each 2.58m x 1.20m approx. overall). Granted 

03.11.2015 

15/02305/FUL - Formation of camel reserve with erection of housing unit ( Approx 25x 9.6m overall ) 

Granted 15.01.2016 

15/02581/FUL - Erection of replacement toilet block and first aid station. Granted 09.12.2015 

15/02582/FUL - Proposed orangery and kitchen extension to existing Safari Cafe. Granted 14.12.2015 

15/02940/FUL - Erection of extension to events tent incorporating new kitchen prep area and customer 

toilets. Granted 04.02.2016 

15/02941/FUL - Formation of children's play area and picnic area (retrospective). Granted 04.01.2017 

15/02996/FUL - Erection of a coffee shop/restaurant. Granted 05.02.2016 

16/01100/ADV - Display of signage to main entrance (3.0m width x 3.0m height). Granted 27.06.2016 

16/02539/FUL - Erection of Okapi house and walkway. Granted 03.02.2017 

16/02540/FUL - Erection of replacement lemur house. Granted 05.12.2016 

16/02956/FUL - Proposed erection of staff facilities building (25.5m x 12.6m). Granted 25.01.2017 

17/00278/FUL - Formation of children’s play area  following the removal of existing equipment 

(Retrospective). Granted 21.03.2017 

17/00329/FUL - Proposed erection of WC block and first aid room. Granted 04.04.2017 

17/00331/FUL - Proposed erection of a Hog house and enclosure. Pending consideration. 

17/01154/SCRE - Request for a screening opinion for environmental impact assessment. Response 

provided 12.06.2017. 

17/01869/SCOP - Request for a scoping opinion in relation to the proposed expansion of Yorkshire Wildlife 

Park. Response provided 17.08.2017 

17/02154/FUL - Erection of animal holding enclosure and animal housing. Pending consideration  

17/02226/FUL - Proposed erection of animal holding enclosure and outbuildings. Pending consideration.  

 
 
 

Page 64



Appendix 2 – Mosham Road Junction Design 

 

 
Page 65



Appendix 3 – Internal road layout 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 66



 
 
Appendix 4 – Site Layout and internal arrangement 

 
  

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 
DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE – 9 January, 2018 

 

 

Application  2 

 

Application 
Number: 

17/01087/FULM Application 
Expiry Date: 

7th August 2017 

 

Application 
Type: 

Planning FULL Major 

 

Proposal 
Description: 

Use of building for 11 self-contained flats, retention and conversion of 
outbuilding to 1 self-contained flat, re-roof building and other alterations 
(retrospective) and new front boundary wall. 
 

At: 24 Avenue Road  Wheatley  Doncaster  DN2 4AQ 

 

For: Empire Property Concepts 

 

 
Third Party Reps: 

 
6 objections 
 

 
Parish: 

 
 

  Ward: Town 

 

Author of Report Elizabeth Maw 

 

MAIN RECOMMENDATION: GRANT 

 

 
  

Page 69



1.0 Reason for Report 
 
1.1 This application is being presented again to Members following its deferral from the 
previous Planning Committee meeting on 12th December 2017.   
 
1.2 The application was deferred to allow a site visit to take place in order to assess the 
front and rear gardens for landscaping options. 
 
2.0 Proposal and Background 
 
2.1 The proposal is a retrospective application to change a former bed and breakfast to 
eleven flats, conversion of an outbuilding to one flat and external alterations. All of the flats 
are occupied. 
 
2.2 The application site is 24 Avenue Road, Wheatley. The property is located in 
Doncaster - Thorne Road Conservation Area. The special interest of this conservation 
area derives from the character of the well detailed late Victorian and Edwardian villas and 
villa pairs well-spaced in large grounds in contrast to the more uniform smaller terraces to 
the south of the area. No24 is a semi-detached villa of generous proportions. It was built 
around 1900 and shares typical detailing of this period and of the conservation area in 
general.  
 
2.3 The building has unfortunately suffered from recent inappropriate alterations including 
the replacement of slates on the roof with red concrete tiles, the removal of the front 
boundary wall and the front garden has been surfaced with concrete. The submission 
proposes to rectify the inappropriate alterations by re-landscaping the front garden, re-
instatement of the boundary wall and slate tiles to the front part of the roof.  The 
conservation officer has confirmed the works to rectify the alterations is acceptable.  
 
2.4 Six letters of opposition have been received. The main reason for objecting is due to a 
rise in small flats and houses in multiple occupation in this area and the impact it has to 
the established community. Impacts include rubbish, anti-social behaviour, noise and 
parking.  
 
3.0 Relevant Planning History 
 
3.1 None relevant. 
 
4.0 Representations 
 
4.1 The application has been publicised by sending letters to adjoining neighbours, 
placing a site notice near to the application site and press advert. Six objection letters 
have been received. The reasons for objecting are:  
 
4.2 The area is seeing a shift from a family housing to small flats and houses in multiple 
occupation. This change in tenure is having an impact to the established community such 
as rubbish, anti-social behaviour, noise and parking. Avenue Road is described by an 
objector as a beautiful road but is rapidly going downhill.  
 
  

Page 70



4.3 The unauthorised works to the property, in particular, the front wall and concreting the 
whole of the outdoor area is detrimental to the conservation area and increases surface 
water run-off. The developer must be asked to re-introduce greenery back onto the site.  
 
4.4 Residents are unhappy that work has been carried out by developers without obtaining 
planning consent before.  
 
4.5 The Doncaster Civic Trust is pleased to see kitchen facilities being added into each of 
the rooms. The re-roofing should be done in blue slate, or equivalent. The Civic Trust also 
made comments to the arrangement of the front garden which has since been amended to 
take into account their comments.   
 
5.0 Relevant Consultations 
 
5.1 DMBC Drainage Team: "Any surface water discharging onto a hard standing area as 
part of a development must be drained in some way. The paved area in it's current form, 
appears to have no formal drainage, so therefore the surface water run-off is discharging 
directly onto the public footway/highway. This would currently contravene the Highways 
Act. Therefore I would consider a drainage condition necessary, to make sure that 
something is put in place to ensure there is no surface water run-off from the development 
onto the public footway/highway." 
 
5.2 DMBC Design and Conservation Officer:  There have been numerous inappropriate 
alterations, which has had a negative impact to the conservation area. The plans have 
been amended and there is an agreement to rectify the harm caused. The proposal is now 
considered acceptable subject to conditions.  
 
5.3 DMBC Environmental Health:  The initial inspection did reveal a number of 
defects/hazards that require addressing, in terms of both Building Regulations/Housing 
Act health and safety rating system.  These are currently being discussed with the 
Building Control Officer, and do not affect the overall consideration of the proposed use. 
There is adequate room for waste storage but due to the likely number of bins being 
required, there is a strong possibility that this could cause loss of amenity to the locality, 
unless adequately located and shielded from view. Therefore, no objections are raised 
subject to a condition to ensure suitable waste storage.  
 
7.0 Relevant Policy and Strategic Context 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
Doncaster Core Strategy 
CS2: Growth and Regeneration Strategy 
CS14: Design and Sustainable Construction 
CS15: Valuing our Historic Environment 
 
Doncaster UDP 1998 (saved policies) 
PH11: Residential Policy Areas 
ENV25: Conservation Areas 
 
  

Page 71



7.0 Planning Issues and Discussion 
 
Principle 
 
7.1 The proposal is acceptable in principle. The property is within an established 
residential area. Housing on Avenue Road includes single dwellings and multiple 
occupancy properties. The land allocation is Residential Policy Area.  
 
7.2 The owner has advised all of the flats are occupied and there is a waiting list. This 
demonstrates there is a demand for small flats in this area. The National Planning Policy 
Framework advises Local Authorities should provide housing to reflect local demand, 
which this application would do. In addition, the property does not result in the loss of a 
family home because its last use was a bed and breakfast. 
 
Alterations 
 
7.3 The owner has carried out numerous inappropriate alterations to the property. The 
front wall has been removed and railings installed. The soft landscaping in the front 
garden has been replaced with concrete. The roof material has been changed to 
terracotta concrete roof tile.  
 
7.4 The submission proposes to rectify the inappropriate alterations by adding greenery to 
the front garden, re-instatement of the boundary wall and slate tiles to the front part of the 
roof.  Works will be completed to a timetable (to be agreed by condition). The applicant 
has also shown clear intentions to rectify the inappropriate alterations as work has already 
started on site (scaffolding has been erected and work to the front boundary wall has 
started). 
 
7.5 The outbuilding in the rear garden has been altered in connection with its conversion 
to a residential property. The outbuilding as it currently stands does not overshadow or 
overlook and there is a no material harm to the conservation area or surrounding land. As 
such, its retention in its current state is acceptable.  
 
Bins 
 
7.6 A Planning Officer visited the property in April 2017 and approximately 5 of the 11 
rooms were occupied. The bins were stored in the front garden but they were kept tidy 
and not overflowing. 
 
7.7 The property is now fully let so an unannounced second visit was carried out in 
October 2017. The Planning Officer noted bins remain tidy and not overflowing. The bins 
were also obscured by the front wall. There is no evidence to indicate that bins/ rubbish 
are an issue for these flats.  
 
Residential Amenity 
 
7.8 The eleven flats within the main building and the single storey outbuilding do not 
create any overlooking issues.  
 
  

Page 72



7.9 A Planning Officer has visited the inside of the property and saw inside three rooms. 
From the rooms that were seen they are small studio flats with an en suite and small 
kitchenette. The rooms are clean and modern. The floor space of each flat is small but still 
provide all the requirements for someone's day to day needs. Communal spaces were 
pleasant and clean. The property also benefits from a large outdoor area at the back.  
 
7.10 A Building Control Officer and Housing Officer were at the site visit to advise on other 
non-planning considerations such as fire regulations.  
 
Highways and Parking 
 
7.11 The site has limited off street parking. But there is no requirement to provide 
additional off street parking because the proposal is for studio flats, which often have 
occupiers with low car ownership levels and the site is within an urban location.  Any car 
owners living at this property will have to park on the street, which is safe to use. Spaces 
on the street would be on a first come, first served basis.  
 
8.0 Summary and Conclusion 
 
8.1 The proposed flats provide a housing source to meet local demand. Occupiers have a 
good standard of residential amenity. Existing residents are not affected by rubbish or 
overlooking. There is no evidence of anti-social behaviour. The inappropriate alterations 
will be rectified and subject to a timescale.   The proposal is therefore considered to meet 
housing and conservation policies as set out in the NPPF, Core Strategy and Doncaster 
UDP 1998. 
 
 

9.0 Recommendation 

 
GRANT Full planning permission subject to the conditions below: 
 
 
01.  U57156 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete 

accordance with the details shown on the amended plans referenced 
and dated as follows: The development hereby permitted shall be 
carried out in complete accordance with the details shown on the 
amended plans referenced and dated as follows:  

  Site Plan 006 Revision A, stamped 'AMENDED PLANS 07.07.2017' 
  Front garden and boundary wall plan 024 Revision A, stamped 

'AMENDED PLANS 07.07.2017' 
  Proposed front elevation 020 Revision A, stamped 'AMENDED 

PLANS 07.07.2017' 
  Proposed side elevation 021 Revision A, stamped 'AMENDED 

PLANS 07.07.2017' 
  REASON 
  To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 

application as approved. 
   
  

Page 73



02.  U57152 Within one month from the date this planning consent is granted, a 
timetable to rectify the inappropriate alterations shall be agreed 
between the developer and the Local Planning Authority. Works shall 
be completed in accordance with the agreed timetable. 

  REASON 
  To ensure the inappropriate alterations are rectified within a 

reasonable timeframe, in the interests of preserving and enhancing 
the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 

 
03.  U57154 Works within the front garden shall not commence until details of the 

surface water drainage systems and all related works necessary to 
drain the hardstanding in the front garden have been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. These works shall be 
carried out concurrently with the development.  

  REASON 
  To ensure that the front garden has a suitable drainage system and to 

prevent run off into the public highway. 
 
04.  U57153 Notwithstanding the details on the approved plans the wall copings 

shall be stone or art stone to match the appearance of existing. 
  REASON 
  In the interests of preserving the appearance of the conservation 

area.   
 
05.  U57155 Prior to the commencement of the relevant works, the slate to be used 

on the front facing roof slope shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The details shall include the 
type and source of the slate and any ridge, eaves or hip covering. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 

  REASON 
  To preserve and enhance the character and appearance of the 

Conservation Area in accordance with policy ENV25 of the Doncaster 
Unitary Development Plan. 

 
The above objections, considerations and resulting recommendation have had 
regard to Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European Convention for 
Human Rights Act 1998.  The recommendation will not interfere with the applicant’s 
and/or objector’s right to respect for his private and family life, his home and his 
correspondence. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 74



 
Appendix 1: Floor Plans  
 
Ground Floor  

 
 
 
 
 
 Page 75



 
First Floor  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



 
Second Floor  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 77



Appendix 2: Existing Frontage 
 
Photo showing existing front boundary, concrete in front garden and roof tiles 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



Appendix 3: Proposed External Alterations 
 
Proposed Front Elevation  

 

 
 
Proposed alterations to outbuilding  

 

Page 79



 
Proposed Front Garden Plan  
 

 
 
 
 
Proposed wall along front boundary  
 

 

Page 80



 
DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE – 9 January, 2018 

 

 

Application  3 

 

Application 
Number: 

17/02334/FUL Application 
Expiry Date: 

14th November 2017 

 

Application 
Type: 

Full Application 

 

Proposal 
Description: 

Increase in the height of the butt stop walls to 6.1 metres 
 

At: Rifle Range  Hoyle Croft Lane  Braithwell  Rotherham 

 

For: Rotherham Chantry Rifle Club 

 

 
Third Party Reps: 

 
The proposal 
received objections 
from 13 persons.  
 

 
Parish: 

 
Braithwell / Micklebring 
Parish Council 

  Ward: Tickhill And Wadworth 

 

Author of Report Tim Goodall 

 

MAIN RECOMMENDATION: GRANT 

 

  
Page 81



 
1.0 Reason for Report 
 
1.1 This application is being presented again to Members following its deferral from the 
previous Planning Committee meeting on 12th December 2017.  

 
1.2 The application was deferred to allow a late objection to be considered by officers. 
The consultation responses to the late objection will be included in pre-committee 
amendments.  
 
2.0 Proposal and Background 
 
2.1 Planning permission is sought for increase in the height of the butt stop walls to 6.1 
metres from 2.8 metres at the outdoor range of the Rotherham Chantry Rifle Club. The 
application site is the rifle club, a former quarry south of Ashton Lane and west of Hoyle 
Croft Lane. The site lies approximately 1 kilometre to the west of the village of Braithwell. 
The application site lies within the green belt. 
 
2.2. To the west of the site is the existing Pawson's employment site. To the north is an 
existing residential dwelling. There is agricultural land to the south and east. The 
application site is roughly rectangular and as a former quarry it is 8 to 9 metres below the 
surrounding ground level. 
 
2.3 The existing butt walls are for safety purposes and these require extension following a 
recent inspection by the NSRA (National Small Bore Rifle Association). The standing butts 
will be constructed of 3mm rubber covered 4 mm sheet steel mounted on scaffold frames 
behind the existing standing butts. 
 
3.0 Relevant Planning History 
 
3.1 06/02255/FUL - Installation of foul drainage system - Permitted 30.10.2006 
 
4.0 Representations 
 
4.1 This application has been advertised in accordance with Article 15 of the Town & 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015. This was by 
neighbour notification and Public Access. 
 
4.2 The proposal received objections from 13 persons. The issues raised in the objections 
are set out below. 
- Concern over the purpose of the application in that it may allow an increase in the 
calibre of firearms used. 
- Concern over disruption during construction process 
- Impact on local wildlife 
- Noise pollution 
- Impair the use of the rural location for those wishing to enjoy the countryside, in 
particular Hoyle Croft Lane for walking, cycling and horse riding. 
- Impact on the green belt 
- Visual impact of the development 
- Accuracy of the plans - the depth of the quarry may be less than measured. 
 
  

Page 82



4.3 The officer responses to the objections are set out in the report below. 
 
5.0 Parish Council 
 
Parish Council - Objected due to the impact on the green lane, concern that the 
application would allow the use of larger calibres. The Parish Council also noted the 
NRSA report was not with the application, however this report has now been published on 
the Doncaster Council Public Access. 
 
6.0 Relevant Consultations 
 
6.1 Environmental Health Officer - No objection. 
 
6.2 Public Right of Way Officer - Verbal confirmation of the status of Hoyle Croft Lane as a 
greenway. 
 
6.3 South Yorkshire Police - No objection 
 
6.4 Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council - No objection 
 
7.0 Relevant Policy and Strategic Context 
 
Doncaster Core Strategy 
Policy CS1 Quality of Life 
Policy CS3 Countryside 
Policy CS14 Design and Sustainable Construction 
Policy CS16 Valuing our Natural Environment 
Policy CS17 Providing Green Infrastructure 
 
Doncaster Unitary Development Plan (UDP) saved policies 1998 
Policy ENV1 Doncaster Green Belt 
Policy ENV3 Development in the Green Belt 
Policy ENV7 Recreation and Leisure Developments 
 
Development Guidance and Requirements SPD 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
8.0 Planning Issues and Discussion 
 
Residential Amenity 
 
8.1 Policy CS1 of the Core Strategy supports development proposals that protect local 
amenity. Policy CS14 states that new development should also have no unacceptable 
negative effects upon the amenity of neighbouring land uses or the environment. 
 
  

Page 83



8.2 The application has been considered for the impact on noise disturbance by the 
Council's Environmental Health Officer who has no objection to the proposal. As the 
applicant has stated, the proposed increase to the butts is for safety reasons for the 
current firearms. The South Yorkshire Police Firearms Officer confirmed verbally that he 
was aware of the site and their proposal to increase the butt stop walls to adhere to 
guidelines. He also confirmed that an increase in calibre would require regulation via a 
body such as the NSRA and that the operators would need to contact South Yorkshire 
Police. The formal response from the South Yorkshire Police Designing Out Crime Officer 
was that as the calibre was not being increased there was no further comments to be 
made. 
 
8.3 The applicant also confirmed via email to the case officer "that there are no plans to 
increase the calibre of firearms currently discharged on the outside Range - and would 
also point out that the increase in height (to 6.1 metres) would in any case be insufficient 
to do so." 
 
8.4 One particular objection made reference to disruption during the construction process, 
however temporary disruption during development is not a valid reason to refuse planning 
permission. 
 
Development in Green Belt 
 
8.4 Paragraph 89 of the NPPF states that a local planning authority should regard the 
construction of new buildings as inappropriate in Green Belt. Exceptions to this are:  
- buildings for agriculture and forestry  
- provision of appropriate facilities for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation and for 
cemeteries, as long as it preserves the openness of the Green Belt and does not conflict 
with the purposes of including land within it  
- the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in disproportionate 
additions over and above the size of the original building  
- the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and not 
materially larger than the one it replaces  
- limited infilling in villages, and limited affordable housing for local community needs 
under policies set out in the Local Plan 
- limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed sites 
(brownfield land), whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), 
which would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the 
purpose of including land within it than the existing development. 
 
8.5 Policy CS3 of the Core Strategy states that Doncaster's countryside will be protected 
and enhanced, having regard to the principles set out below. Key considerations for land 
within the Green Belt are that national policy will be applied, including a presumption 
against inappropriate development other than in very special circumstances. Saved Policy 
ENV1 states that the purposes of including land in the Doncaster green belt are: 
o to regulate the size and shape of urban areas in order to prevent unrestricted sprawl; 
o to prevent the coalescence of existing settlements; 
o to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; and 
o to assist in urban regeneration by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban 
land. 
 
  

Page 84



8.6 Saved Policy ENV3 goes onto to set out acceptable development within the green 
belt. This includes outdoor sport and outdoor recreation including essential facilities for 
such development subject to the limitations included in Policy ENV7. Development 
proposals will only be acceptable in principle where they would not be visually detrimental 
by reason of their siting, materials or design, and would not give rise to unacceptable 
highway or amenity problems and would not conflict with other policies of the UDP. Saved 
Policy ENV7 considers recreation and leisure proposals in the greenbelt. Essential 
facilities including small ancillary buildings, unobtrusive spectator accommodation and 
other essential facilities, will be permitted provided the development is genuinely required 
and the development preserves the openness of the green belt. The policy goes onto to 
state that such development as is permitted should be located and designed to ensure 
harmony with the surrounding countryside and in particular so as to not have an adverse 
impact on the landscape, agriculture, the form and character of existing settlements, the 
built heritage or wildlife. 
 
8.7 As the application site lies within the existing green belt, the above policy 
considerations are applicable. The use of the site as a rifle range is already established by 
dint of the timescale and as such the impact on the green belt is restricted to the 
consideration of the impact of the extensions to the standing butts. The proposed 
development will be in the form of two upward extensions to the existing structures. The 
proposed development is for the increase in height of the existing standing butts within the 
rifle range. The applicant has explained that the reason for the increase is to meet current 
NSRA guidelines following a recent inspection. Due to the drop in land levels at the site 
because of its former use as a quarry, the increased height of the butts will still be well 
below the land levels of the surrounding land such as Hoyle Croft Lane. The proposed 
elevations show the height of the butts increasing from 2.8 metres to 6.1 metres. 
However, the elevations also show that the ground level inside the quarry is 9.2 metres 
below the neighbouring ground level. As such, the butts would remain 3.1 metres below 
the neighbouring ground level. Furthermore, the boundary between Hoyle Croft Lane and 
the application site contained a hedgerow approximately 1.0 metre in height at the time of 
a site visit. The boundary to the south also has additional screening in the form of trees 
and planting. As such, it is not considered the proposed development will have an 
unacceptable impact on the openness of the Green Belt. 
 
Design 
 
8.8 In accordance with Policy CS14, all development proposals must be of a high quality 
design that contributes to local distinctiveness. Saved Policy ENV54 of the UDP states 
that alterations and extensions to existing buildings should be sympathetic in scale, 
materials, layout and general design to the existing building. Features which contribute to 
the character of the building or surrounding area should be retained.  
 
8.9 The site as existing contains standing butts with some single storey buildings including 
an indoor range. There is also a gravelled car park. The proposed development is to 
increase the height of the existing stop butts to 6.1 metres. However, the increased height 
would still be 2 to 3 metres below the surrounding ground level. The butts will be 
constructed of 3mm rubber covered 4 mm sheet steel mounted on scaffold frames. Given 
the significant changes in ground levels surrounding the site and the nature of the built 
environment within the site and also the industrial nature of the Pawson's site to the west, 
the proposed extensions are considered to comply with policy in design terms. 
 
  

Page 85



Highways and Parking 
 
8.10 Policy CS14 of the Core Strategy states that the design of new development should 
make a positive contribution towards quality, stability, safety and security of private 
property, public areas and the highway. Core Strategy Policy CS17 states proposals will 
be supported which make an overall contribution to the green infrastructure network by 
avoiding damage to green infrastructure assets or, where loss is unavoidable and the 
benefits of the development outweigh the loss, including appropriate compensation 
measures. 
 
The proposed development will not result in any changes to the access or parking 
arrangements for the site. There is a public right of way to the east of the site that 
according to objections is used by local residents for walking, cycling and horse riding. 
Concerns have been raised by objectors that an increase in the calibre of the fire arms 
would be a safety issue. However, the applicant has stated the purpose of the application 
is to adhere to existing guidelines and not for increasing the calibre. As such, there would 
be no damage to the existing public right of way to the east. The proposal is therefore 
considered to comply with Core Strategy policies CS14 and CS17. 
 
Impact on Wildlife 
 
8.11 Policy CS16 of the Core Strategy states that protected habitats and species will be 
given the highest levels of protection in accordance with the relevant legislation and 
policy. The proposed development is for the increase in heights to existing safety butts 
that would remain below the surrounding ground level. No change of use is proposed as 
the site is an existing rifle range. As such, the proposed development is not considered to 
have a materially adverse impact on local wildlife. 
 
9.0 Summary and Conclusion 
 
9.1 The proposed extension to the butt stop walls is considered to comply with national 
and local planning policies and is recommended for approval subject to the following 
conditions. 
 

10.0 Recommendation 

 
GRANT Planning permission subject to the conditions below; 
 
 
01.  STAT1 The development to which this permission relates must be begun not 

later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this 
permission.  

  REASON 
  Condition required to be imposed by Section 91(as amended) of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
  

Page 86



02.  ACC1 The development hereby permitted must be carried out and 
completed entirely in accordance with the terms of this permission and 
the details shown on the approved plans and specifications.  

  REASON 
  To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 

application as approved. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 87



Appendix 1 - Location Plan 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



Appendix 2 – Existing Standing Butts showing frame 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



 
 

Appendix 3 - Existing Standing Butts 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 90



Appendix 4 – Proposed Scaffolding 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 91



 
Appendix 5 –Proposed Sheets 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92



 
 

 
Appendix 6 – Proposed Butts 

 
 

 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



 
DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE – 9th January 2018 

 

 

Application  4 

 

Application 
Number: 

17/02996/COU Application 
Expiry Date: 

29th January 2018 

 

Application 
Type: 

Change of Use 

 

Proposal 
Description: 

Change of use to form a swimming baths (being resubmission of 
application ref: 17/02312/COU refused on 13/11/17). 
 

At: Unit 3B  Marrtree Business Park  Silk Road  Wheatley 

 

For: Ms Pegden - Go Swimstars 

 

 
Third Party Reps: 

52 
 

 
Parish: 

 
 

  Ward: Wheatley Hills And Intake 

 

Author of Report Alicia Murray 

 

MAIN RECOMMENDATION: Refusal 

 

 
  

Page 95



 
 
 
 
1.0 Reason for Report 
 
1.1 This application is before Planning Committee given the number of representations 
received in support of the application and at the request of Councillor Jane Kidd who 
supports the application.  
 
 
2.0 Proposal and Background 
 
2.1 The application seeks consent to change the use of a newly constructed small 
industrial unit  (B1/B2) to a private swimming school (class D2).  No external alterations 
are proposed. 
 
2.2 The application is a re-submission of the recently refused 17/02312/COU scheme. The 
proposal has not significantly altered however; there have been discussions about the 
addition of a mini-bus parking space outside the unit and further details regarding the 
operation of use. 
 
2.3 The applicants are in need to find a suitable venue to provide swimming tuition for 
schools as many of the existing swimming centres no longer offer this service.   The 
application is supported by business Doncaster and supports the ‘Get Doncaster Moving’ 
initiative. 
 
2.4 The site is a small purpose built industrial estate located off Silk Road leading from 
Wheatley Hall Road.  The area is generally characterised by car garages and other small 
industrial uses.  The application site known as unit 3B sits within a small 15 unit industrial 
complex, which has limited on-site parking and the units differ in floor space.  The unit 
which is the subject of the application sits in the north-west corner of the site with a 
communal access parking and turning area to its frontage. None of the other units appear 
to be let, at the time of the site inspection. 
 
2.5 The 2014 approval permitted 52 car parking spaces for 15 units, as unit 5 has its own 
dedicated parking and is served by its own access. The applicants existing site plan in fact 
shows that only 48 spaces have been laid out, as some parking has been lost and 
amended to make provision for a bin store.  This equates to 3.2 spaces per unit. 
 
 
3.0 Relevant Planning History 
 
3.1 17/02312/COU: Change of use of B1/B2 building to form a swimming baths (D2). 
Refused 13.11.2017.for the following reason:  
 
  

Page 96



1. The proposed use of the unit as a swimming baths without dedicated parking in an 
existing commercial area would conflict with Policy CS 14 of the Doncaster Core 
Strategy in that it would lead to an unacceptable risk to child safety given the levels 
of comings and goings of commercial vehicles to the adjoining units. As well as this 
the insufficient amount of parking spaces on the site as a whole would aggravate 
existing parking problems in the area and lead to such a high level of on street 
parking as to create a danger to the highway safety of thereby be contrary to 
Doncaster's Core Strategy Policy CS14 (a3) which seeks to ensure that new 
developments do not undermine the safety of the highway users. 

 
3.2 16/01111/MAT - Erection of 5 industrial units for Class B2/B8 use with ancillary offices 
on approx 1.41ha of land (Amendment to Condition 10 of application granted under Ref: 
14/02840/FULM on 12.03.2015 - BREEAM). 
 
3.3 14/02840/FULM: Erection of 5 industrial units for Class B2/B8 use with ancillary offices 
on approx. 1.41ha of land. 
 
 
4.0 Representations 
 
4.1 The application has been advertised in accordance with the requirements of the 
Planning Practice Guidance via site notice.  
 
4.2 At the time of writing the report 52 representations have been received in support of 
the application: the representations outline that the proposal would provide a good 
community facility in the area; much needed new swimming pool; the swim school is the 
best in the area; highly accessible location; fit for purpose; reduce long waiting lists; help 
expand a business and provide more jobs. 
 
4.3 This support was primarily from existing users of the swim school. 
 
 
5.0 Relevant Consultations 
 
5.1 Several responses are awaited due to the applicant requesting the application be 
reported to committee at the earliest opportunity.  Updates will be provided in the pre 
committee notes. 
 
5.2 Highways – The highways officer retains her concern expressed on the previously 
refused application 17/02312/COU, with regards the mix of use of facilities catering for 
children within an area of predominantly industrial use and the sharing car parking 
facilities.   
 
The highways officer does however acknowledge that there are other instances within the 
borough where D2 leisure use has been introduced within industrial parks where opening 
hours outside of normal business operating hours have been conditions.   
 
  

Page 97



The Highways officer notes that this resubmission seeks to take opportunity of that and 
proposes lessons from 5pm onwards mon-fri to the general public and 9-12 on Saturday. 
The highways officer states that no objections are raised if planning officers are satisfied 
that the area has sufficient parking to cater for the overlap between lesson arrivals and 
departures.  Furthermore no objection is raised to the proposal to run the swimming 
lessons during the day providing that this remains for the sole use of school related 
lessons. 
 
5.3 Environment Agency- No objections 
 
5.4 Public Health - Response awaiting 
 
5.5 Environmental Health - Response awaiting 
 
5.6 Central Area Manager – Response awaiting 
 
5.7 Public Health – Response awaiting 
 
5.8 Local Plans (Flooding) – Response awaiting 
 
5.9 Local Plans (Employment) – Response awaiting 
 
 
6.0 Relevant Policy and Strategic Context 
 
6.1 In the case of this application, the development plan consists of the Doncaster Core 
Strategy and Unitary Development Plan.  The most relevant policies are Policies CS1 and 
CS5 of the Core Strategy and Policy EMP6 of the UDP; as the site is designated as 
Employment Land. 
 
 
6.2 Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
and the subsequent planning guidance; as well as the Council's supplementary planning 
guidance. 
 
 
7.0 Planning Issues and Discussion 
 
Principle of Development 
 
7.1 Marrtree Business Park is a newly erected industrial estate on land allocated as a 
local employment area within the UDP.  Policy EMP6 of the UDP states a preference for 
retaining local employment sites but does allow other uses on their own merits in 
accordance with other Development Plan policies. Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy states 
that major employment sites will be retained for employment uses which may include 
some small scale supporting uses.  
 
 
  

Page 98



7.2 The proposed use is for a teaching swimming pool for both private lessons and school 
children, which would fall into use class D2.  As the proposed use falls outside of class B1, 
B2, B8; EMP6 states that the development must be assessed on its own merits.  In terms 
of more appropriate sites for the use in the main urban area, the agent has confirmed that 
through Business Doncaster they have searched for site via local estate agents, the 
internet and have not found any other units. Furthermore the estate agent has stated that 
the site has been advertised in total for over 18 months; including through the 
development process and there has been no interest. 
 
 
7.3 Under the previous application the Council’s Investment Team outlined the following, 
which is still relevant today: “The job creation potential is very significant and as such 
should expect to be supported through our Business Incentive Scheme (application 
already in process). It is our belief that this use will in all likelihood create more job 
opportunities in this unit than any distribution use or small scale manufacturer and will also 
help diversify our business base more into the area of health and wellbeing.”  The agent 
has outlined that there would be 1 full time employee and 6 part time employees.  
 
7.4 In a more general sense the provision of further swimming facilities in Doncaster will 
help broaden the swimming offer and help to increasing levels of physical activity in 
Doncaster and is part of a raft of wider measures which look to engage Doncaster’s 
communities in becoming active. Therefore the principle of a D2 use in this location could 
be acceptable subject to consideration of the details of the application such as flood risk, 
amenity and highway safety. 
 
 
Flooding 
 
7.5 Paragraph 100 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that inappropriate 
development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away 
from areas at highest risk, but where development is necessary, making it safe without 
increasing flood risk elsewhere. Policy CS4 of the Core Strategy states that development 
within flood risk areas will be supported where they pass the Sequential and /or Exception 
Tests (if they are required). The Doncaster Council Development and Flood Risk SPD 
states that change of use applications with no operational development do not require the 
Sequential or Exception Test. 
 
 
7.6 The application site also lies within flood zone 3A.  The applicant submitted a flood risk 
assessment which notes that while the change of use would be to a more vulnerable use, 
in conclusion the development is appropriate in this location and complies with national 
planning policy.  The submitted flood risk assessment has been considered by the 
Environment Agency which has no objection to the proposed change of use. 
 
 
Highways and Parking 
 
7.7 Policy CS14 of the Core Strategy states that the design of new development should 
make a positive contribution towards quality, stability, safety and security of private 
property, public areas and the highway. 
 
  

Page 99



7.8 Parking was the sole concern in the determination of application 17/02312/COU, 
which considered the lack of dedicated parking would create conflict with the existing 
commercial area. This was mainly due to the potential unacceptable risk to child safety 
given the levels of comings and goings of commercial vehicles to the adjoining units once 
occupied. In addition the proposed use, given the general lack of parking on the site as a 
whole would aggravate existing parking problems in the area and lead to such a high level 
of on street parking as to create a danger to the highway safety of thereby be contrary to 
Doncaster's Core Strategy Policy CS14 (a3) which seeks to ensure that new 
developments do not undermine the safety of the highway users. 
 
 
7.9 The refusal was supported by the highway officer who stated that "whilst there may be 
a number of spaces within the industrial site as a whole, I have mentioned on previous 
applications, my concerns regarding the mix of use of facilities catering for children within 
an area of predominantly industrial use and the sharing car parking facilities with units that 
undoubtedly have larger vehicles accessing daily who may not be aware or consider that 
small children may be in the area. There are instances where D2 leisure use has been 
introduced within industrial parks in the borough, however these tend to be in units with 
dedicated enclosed parking provision or their hours of operation are outside of those of 
the adjoining units." 
 
 
7.10 In this particular industrial site, officers noted that whilst there is off street parking for 
the units these are not designated for the individual units. The 3.2 spaces per unit is also 
relatively low considering the size of some of the units. Discussions were held with the 
applicants over controlling the hours of operation of the swim centre and limiting school 
visits by bus only during day time hours, however these were not agreed and a refusal 
resulted.  
 
 
7.11 This resubmission firms up these suggestions within the design and access 
statement and plans to only operate during day time hours for school visits only.  These 
will arrive by mini bus only and park directly in front of the unit in a dedicated space to 
reduce the distance between the door of the mini bus and the swim centre. The applicants 
are also proposing to only operate after 5pm for private swim sessions. Nothing else has 
changed in terms of the level of car parking provision and or unit uptake.  
 
 
7.12 The highways officer was re-consulted on this application and deferred the decision 
back to the planning officer, if officers were satisfied with the level of car parking and 
acknowledged that other D2 uses have been permitted in the borough. Having said the 
above each case must be looked at on its own merit and there may be some cases where 
parking provision is much more generous and the conflict with other uses is lessened for 
D2 use.   
 
7.13 Officers still have reservations that once fully occupied the industrial premises will 
have a real conflict with any small child visiting the premises, particularly due to the 
sporadic parking, lack of pedestrian walkways within the site and the general industrial 
nature of the site.  Whilst limiting the use during the day to schools only may help reduce 
this concern, this would be difficult to control in holiday periods.  
  

Page 100



In an evening there are still lots of potential conflict between uses of the school and  
businesses who may stay open late or work shifts, as the hours of operation are not 
controlled on the business park.  This combined with the potential doubling up of vehicles 
to cover the 15 minute changing time between sessions (25 users at each lesson time, 
with 15min cross overs for each lesson change) would still lead to cause aggravation and 
nuisance in an estate that has a real small amount of parking. This concern may well 
reduce as the hours get later in an evening however a 5pm this is still likely to be a 
particular concern. 
 
 
7.14 This concern was put the applicant in favour of granting temporary 2 year consent so 
its impact could be assessed once the estate becomes occupied; however for financial 
reasons including the outlay of the pool this was not agreed by the applicant.  On this 
basis officer’s still remain concerned about the lack of parking, exercising the control over 
the use and operation of the business and the overall safety of the users of the swim 
school.    
 
 
Amenity 
 
7.15 Policy CS1 of the Core Strategy supports development proposals that protect local 
amenity. Policy CS14 states that new development should also have no unacceptable 
negative effects upon the amenity of neighbouring land uses or the environment. 
 
 
7.16 The proposed change of use would be in an existing building that adjoins 
neighbouring commercial buildings. There are no residential buildings in close proximity to 
the application site. Due to the nature of the proposed use, the existing uses of 
neighbouring buildings and the hours of opening, there are not considered to be any direct 
impacts on amenity such as noise or privacy. There may however be a general concern 
and nuisance factor which may affect the success of the business park overall, through 
parking conflicts and pedestrians walking through the estate when visiting the school as 
highlighted above.  This is obviously a consideration of the owners in terms of the wider 
success of the estate and may impact on attracting future tenants. 
 
 
Other Matters 
 
7.17 It should be made clear that this pool will only operate for swimming lessons only and 
will not be a public swimming baths. Outside of school and private lessons, the pool will be 
closed. The swim centre is not open to the public for drop in free swim sessions. 
 
7.17 The Local Planning Authority have asked the applicants whether they would except a 
temporary 2 year consent in order for the Local Planning Authority to monitor the use and 
impact on the local highway however this was not accepted by the applicant, given the 
length of lease they will take out and the outlay costs of the pool. 
 
 
  

Page 101



8.0 Summary and Conclusion 
 
8.1 The proposed use would provide a much needed private swim facility in Doncaster 
and contribute towards getting the people of Doncaster active. However, through careful 
consideration the proposed use would result in harm to public safety to the customers of 
the swim school, due to the sites location, lack of pedestrian walkways and the industrial 
nature of the site once fully occupied. The proposal would result in harm to highway safety 
in terms of aggravating an already congested industrial area through a general lack of 
parking.  Whilst the use will provide a new swim school and bring about a much needed 
facility this does not overcome the harm identified above and as such the application is 
recommended for refusal. 
 

9.0 Recommendation 

 
9.1 Refuse planning permission for the following reason: 
 
 
 

1. The proposed use of the unit as a swimming baths without dedicated parking in an 
existing commercial area would conflict with Policy CS 14 of the Doncaster Core 
Strategy in that it would lead to an unacceptable risk to child safety given the levels 
of comings and goings of commercial vehicles to the adjoining units. As well as this 
the insufficient amount of parking spaces on the site as a whole would aggravate 
existing parking problems in the area and lead to such a high level of on street 
parking as to create a danger to the highway safety of thereby be contrary to 
Doncaster's Core Strategy Policy CS14 (a3) which seeks to ensure that new 
developments do not undermine the safety of the highway users. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The above objections, considerations and resulting recommendation have had 
regard to Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European Convention for 
Human Rights Act 1998.  The recommendation will not interfere with the applicant’s 
and/or objector’s right to respect for his private and family life, his home and his 
correspondence. 
 
 
 
  

Page 102



Appendix 1: Site and Location Plan 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 103



Appendix 2: Existing Plans 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 104



Appendix 3: Proposed Plans 
 
 
 

 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



Date: 9th January, 2018

To the Chair and Members of the Planning Committee

APPEAL DECISIONS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. The purpose of this report is to inform members of appeal decisions received from 
the planning inspectorate.  Copies of the relevant decision letters are attached for 
information.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2. That the report together with the appeal decisions be noted.

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER?

3. It demonstrates the ability applicants have to appeal against decisions of the Local 
Planning Authority and how those appeals have been assessed by the planning 
inspectorate.

BACKGROUND

4. Each decision has arisen from appeals made to the Planning Inspectorate.

OPTIONS CONSIDERED

5. It is helpful for the Planning Committee to be made aware of decisions made on 
appeals lodged against its decisions.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION

6. To make the public aware of these decisions.

IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES

7.
Outcomes Implications 
Working with our partners we will 
provide strong leadership and 
governance.

Demonstrating good governance.

RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS

8. N/A

Page 107

Agenda Item 6.



LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9. Sections 288 and 289 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, provides that a 
decision of the Secretary of State or his Inspector may be challenged in the High 
Court. Broadly, a decision can only be challenged on one or more of the following 
grounds:
a) a material breach of the Inquiries Procedure Rules;
b) a breach of principles of natural justice;
c) the Secretary of State or his Inspector in coming to his decision took into 

account matters which were irrelevant to that decision;
d) the Secretary of State or his Inspector in coming to his decision failed to take 

into account matters relevant to that decision;
e) the Secretary of State or his Inspector acted perversely in that no reasonable 

person in their position properly directing themselves on the relevant material, 
could have reached the conclusion he did;
a material error of law.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

10. The Director of Financial Services has advised that there are no financial 
implications arising from the above decision.

HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

11. There are no Human Resource implications arising from the report.

TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS

12. There are no Technology implications arising from the report

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

13. There are no Equalities implications arising from the report.

CONSULTATION

14. N/A

BACKGROUND PAPERS

15. N/A

CONCLUSIONS

16. Decisions on the under-mentioned applications have been notified as follows:-

Page 108



Application No. Application 
Description & 
Location

Appeal 
Decision

Ward

16/00195/M Appeal against 
enforcement action 
for alleged 
unauthorised 
installation of 
external roller 
shutters  without 
planning 
permission under 
grounds that 
planning 
permission should 
be granted for 
what is alleged in 
the notice at 1 
Silver Street, 
Doncaster, DN1 
1HG, 

Appeal 
Dismissed

17/00519/FUL Proposed erection 
of 4 bed detached 
dwelling with 
associated single 
garage, on approx 
0.05ha of land. at 
Land Adj To, 
Beechwood, Park 
Drive, Sprotbrough

Appeal 
Allowed
12/12/2017

Sprotbrough

REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS

Mr I Harris TSI Officer
01302 734926 ian.harris@doncaster.gov.uk

PETER DALE
Director of Regeneration and Environment

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 27 November 2017 

by Thomas Shields  MA DipURP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 30 November 2017 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/F4410/C/17/3173168 

1-3 Silver Street, Doncaster, DN1 1HG 

 The appeal is made under section 174 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 

amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991 (the Act). 

 The appeal is made by Wheatley Hall Properties Limited against an enforcement notice 

issued by Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council. 

 The enforcement notice was issued on 1 March 2017.  

 The breach of planning control as alleged in the notice is without planning permission, 

the installation of external roller shutters to the shop frontage of 1/3 Silver Street. 

 The requirements of the notice are to remove the external roller shutters. 

 The period for compliance with the requirements is 2 months. 

 The appeal is proceeding on the grounds set out in section 174(2)(a) of the Act.  
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed, planning permission is refused and the enforcement 
notice is upheld.  

Main Issue 

2. This is the effect of the external roller shutters (shutters) on the character and 
appearance of the area, in particular the Doncaster High Street Conservation 

Area (CA), a designated heritage asset1. 

Assessment 

3. The appeal building is located at the corner of Silver Street and High Street. It 
is an attractive early C20th building, having a tall and imposing presence in the 
street scene. It retains many of its original architectural features including its 

rounded corner, projecting second floor bay and decorative banding. Its scale, 
design and features combine to provide a clearly intended prominence and 

importance appropriate for a key corner position; that being a feature in 
common with other corner buildings in the CA that I saw during my visit to the 
appeal site and the surrounding area.  

4. At street level the ground floor frontage comprises glazed sections and an 
entrance doorway. Within the five glazed sections unpainted solid metal 

shutters have been installed externally. When not in operation they sit within 
their housing boxes, also unpainted but with shop advertising thereon. The 
housing boxes sit directly under and project forward of the deep fascia above.   

5. I consider that the solid metal shutters and housing boxes are a highly 
unattractive addition and incongruous with the traditional construction and 

                                       
1 National Planning Policy Framework (2012) : Annex 2:Glossary 

Page 111

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/F4410/C/17/3173168 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

form of this otherwise attractive building. They have an inappropriately 

industrialising appearance against the finer architectural and decorative facets I 
have described, and the size and forward projection of the housing boxes jar 

with the line and set-back plane of the frontage and the fascia above. Given 
the prominent position of the building I find overall that the development 
results in significant harm to the character and appearance of the building and 

the wider area. 

6. Although no specific details or records of when windows have been broken 

have been provided, I nonetheless acknowledge that security and prevention of 
crime are serious matters to consider. However, there is no evidence before me 
of whether alternative security measures were explored by the appellant, for 

example using internal shutters, and/or security cameras and toughened glass. 
Consequently, I am not convinced that an adequate level of security and 

protection from vandalism could not be achieved using alternative methods, 
and without resulting in the significant harm to the character and appearance 
of the area I have previously identified. 

7. I note the appellant’s reference to rents in the primary shopping area and 
repair costs and viability. However, the fact that expense has been incurred by 

installing the existing shutters without planning permission can carry no 
advantage in support of allowing the appeal, and it is not clear to me that 
adoption of an alternative method of security would not have been similarly as 

effective in the longer term in reducing such costs as the installed shutters.  

8. I also note the appellant’s evidence with regard to boarded up properties and 

shutters and boxes at other premises, some of which I was able to see in the 
surrounding area. However, I do not know when, or if, any of those have been 
granted planning permission, and if so whether any such decisions were made 

before or after the Council’s current Development Plan policies were adopted 
against which applications for planning permission are assessed. In any event, 

I consider that the undesirable appearance of other premises do not lend any 
support for allowing the development subject of this appeal which I have found 
to be significantly harmful as I have previously described.  

Conclusion  

9. For all the above reasons I conclude that the shutters result in significant harm 

to the character and appearance of the building and the area. Although the 
harm is not substantial2 in terms of the CA as a whole, they nonetheless fail to 
preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the CA in conflict with 

saved Policy ENV 25 of the Doncaster Unitary Development Plan (1998).  

10. The development also conflicts with Policy CS14 of the Core Strategy (2012) 

which states that proposals should respond positively to existing site features 
and integrate well with their immediate and surrounding local area.  

11. The appeal therefore fails on ground (a), planning permission is refused, and 
the enforcement notice upheld. 

Thomas Shields  

INSPECTOR 

                                       
2 National Planning Policy Framework (2012), paragraphs 132 and 134 

Page 112

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 24 October 2017 

by Geoff Underwood  BA(Hons) PGDip(Urb Cons) MRTPI IHBC 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 12 December 2017 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/F4410/W/17/3176718 

Land adjacent to Beechwood, Park Drive, Sprotbrough, Doncaster DN5 7LP 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Mr & Mrs M Haczynskj against the decision of Doncaster 

Metropolitan Borough Council. 

 The application Ref 17/00519/FUL, dated 28 February 2017, was refused by notice 

dated 18 April 2017. 

 The development proposed is a four bedroom detached house with single garage. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for a four bedroom 
detached house with single garage at Land adjacent to Beechwood, Park Drive, 

Sprotbrough, Doncaster DN5 7LP in accordance with the terms of the 
application, Ref 17/00519/FUL, dated 28 February 2017, subject to the 

conditions in the Schedule attached to this decision. 

Preliminary Matter 

2. The site address on the application form differs slightly from the more precise 

ones used in the appellants’ Appeal Form and the Council decision notice.  For 
clarity I have used the latter in the heading above and in my decision. 

Main Issue 

3. The main issue raised by this appeal is whether the development would 
preserve the setting of Sprotbrough Park Stables, a grade II listed building.  

Reasons  

4. The site of the proposed house is a vacant area of land party bounded by tall 

stone walls.  The site is surrounded on three sides by dwellings and their 
gardens with a modest but verdant area of woodland to the east through which 
the access serving the site, and two detached dwellings to the south, runs. 

5. Sprotbrough Park Stables are located immediately to the north west of the site, 
in an elevated situation to it.  The Stables have a symmetrical composition 

centred on a two storey gateway linked to pavilions beyond which wings 
extend, enclosing a courtyard on three sides.  It has been converted to a 
number of dwellings and, along with new detached houses arranged 

symmetrically beyond its wings, has created a formal arrangement, with the 
rear elevation of the nearest of those houses backing onto the appeal site.   

Page 113

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/F4410/W/17/3176718 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

6. It derives much of its special interest, and hence significance as a designated 

heritage asset, from its architecture, age, plan form and original use.  It also 
derives some significance from historic associations with the former 

Sprotbrough Hall which it served, noted in the listing description as having 
been demolished in 1926.  An historic map provided by the appellants shows 
the area currently occupied by the appeal site and adjacent dwellings to have 

been an area with trees, possibly formally laid out, between the stable block 
and the Hall.   

7. The Stables have in the most part been surrounded by new development of a 
less formal arrangement than that to the south, giving the listed building a 
predominantly built up setting.  The mature trees which remain in the vicinity 

of the site and farther east serve as physical remains of the former Hall’s 
pleasure grounds.  A visual and historic relationship remains between these, 

the area which they occupy and the Stables.  Consequently, the stables derive 
some significance from this aspect of its setting. 

8. The site forms part of this setting in which the Stables are experienced and the 

Council’s Conservation Officer notes that the wall marks the boundary between 
the former service function of the Stables and their environs and the former 

pleasure grounds.  In its current, cleared form the site has a neutral effect on 
the setting of the listed building.  The absence of buildings on the site enables 
a visual relationship between the Stables and the area of trees to the east of 

the site to be experienced.  From within the Stable courtyard the tops of these 
trees can be viewed above intervening roofs, although a gap between the east 

wing of the Stables and the adjacent house at 6 Stable Gardens enables a fuller 
view of the stone wall bounding the site and trees beyond, albeit that a large, 
mature tree to the rear of No 6 dominates the foreground of this view slot.   

9. The Council point out that previous outline permissions on the site required 
development on the appeal plot to be single storey.  The appeal scheme would 

insert a largely two storey house onto the site, although an attached garage 
with accommodation above would have a notably lower hipped roof that the 
main part of the house.  This lower element would be in line with the 

aforementioned gap.   

10. Those parts of the proposed dwelling which would be visible above the 

intervening wall might be more noticeable from the environs of the Stable than 
those of a bungalow.  However, its configuration nearest to the Stables would 
avoid it appearing so extensive as to block views of the tree canopies beyond 

and it would maintain the visual and historic links between the Stables and 
remaining fragments of the former Hall’s designed landscape.  The slightly 

more strident roofscape when compared to that of a bungalow would have 
more of a presence but would not unduly or adversely affect the relationship 

between the Stables and trees beyond and not divorce the two. 

11. Although of a different design, the overall scale, mass and bulk of the proposed 
house would be similar to that of existing detached houses immediately to the 

south.  Given the extent and height of existing buildings which largely surround 
the stables the proposed house would not be at odds with the Stables’ existing 

built setting and would not dominate the listed building or result in it feeling or 
appearing materially any more ‘hemmed in’ than the existing situation. 

12. Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 (the Act) requires the decision maker to have special regard to the 

Page 114

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/F4410/W/17/3176718 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

desirability of preserving the listed building or its setting in considering whether 

to grant planning permission.  In doing so, and in giving great weight to the 
conservation of the designated heritage asset, I consider that these effects 

would have the effect of preserving this setting and consequently the 
significance of the listed building would not be harmed as a result.   

13. The development would accord with Core Strategy1 Policy CS15’s provision that 

proposals which preserve the heritage significance and setting of heritage 
assets will be supported.  As such the development would also avoid conflict 

with the National Planning Policy Framework’s (the Framework) requirements in 
respect of conserving and enhancing heritage assets.  An appendix to the Core 
Strategy advises that saved UDP2 Policy ENV34, cited in the Council’s refusal 

reason, has been replaced by Policy CS15.   

Other Matters 

14. I have noted the concerns that occupiers of adjacent dwellings have raised in 
respect of the effect they consider the development would have on their living 
conditions.  However, taking into account the configuration of the proposed 

house and its distance from and orientation to adjacent dwellings, particularly 
No 6 which would be the nearest at the rear, I consider that material harm by 

way of a loss of privacy or any overbearing effect would not occur.  In note 
that my conclusion in this respect concurs with that of the Council who found 
the arrangements would accord with their guidance in these respects.  

Conditions 

15. It is necessary to specify the approved plans as this provides certainty.  Having 

noted the Council Pollution Control Officer’s suggestion of a precautionary 
approach to potential contamination risks it is necessary to ensure that such 
risks are assessed, and if necessary remediated, in order to ensure the safety 

of future occupants, although I have used a more concise form than that 
suggested by the Council.  However, in the absence of any evidence that there 

is a specific risk to health from imported soil in this instance I have not 
attached a condition requiring the testing, sampling and verification of such 
materials as suggested by the Council. 

16. The site includes areas of trees alongside the access and it is necessary to 
ensure their protection during construction.  Requiring approval of materials 

and boundary treatments will ensure the character and appearance of the area 
is preserved.  In order to reduce flooding risk and ensuring sewage is disposed 
of appropriately it is necessary to implement an approved drainage scheme.   

Conclusion 

17. For the above reasons, and having had regard to all other matters raised, the 

proposed development would preserve the setting of the listed building and 
accord with the Act, the development plan and the Framework.  The appeal is 

therefore allowed.  

Geoff Underwood 

INSPECTOR 

                                       
1 Doncaster Council Core Strategy 2011-2028, 2012. 
2 Doncaster Unitary Development Plan, 1998. 

Page 115

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/F4410/W/17/3176718 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

Schedule of Conditions 

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years from 
the date of this decision. 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: Location Plan, 956/1A, 956/2, 956/3 and 956/4. 

3) No development shall commence until an assessment of the risks posed by any 

contamination, carried out in accordance with British Standard BS 10175: 
Investigation of potentially contaminated sites - Code of Practice and the 

Environment Agency’s Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (CLR 11) (or equivalent British Standard and Model Procedures 
if replaced), shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 

planning authority (LPA).  If any contamination is found, a report specifying the 
measures to be taken, including the timescale, to remediate the site to render 

it suitable for the permitted development shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the LPA.  The site shall be remediated in accordance with the 
approved measures and timescale and a verification report shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the LPA.  If, during the course of development, 
any contamination is found which has not been previously identified, work shall 

be suspended and additional measures for its remediation shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the LPA.  The remediation of the site shall 
incorporate the approved additional measures and a verification report for all 

the remediation works shall be submitted to the LPA within 14 days of the 
report being completed and approved in writing by the LPA.   

4) No development shall commence until a scheme for the protection of all 
retained trees that complies with section 6.2 of British Standard 5837: 2012 
Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction - Recommendations 

has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority 
(LPA).  Tree protection shall be implemented on site in accordance with the 

approved scheme before any equipment, machinery or materials have been 
brought on to site for the purposes of the development, and shall be 
maintained until all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been 

removed from the site.  Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area fenced in 
accordance with this condition and the ground levels within those areas shall 

not be altered, nor shall any excavation be made, without the prior written 
consent of the LPA.  

5) Prior to the commencement of the relevant works, details of the proposed 

external materials, including windows, doors, and rainwater goods, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The 

development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved materials. 

6) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until foul, surface 

water and land drainage systems and all related works necessary to drain the 
site have been implemented in accordance with a scheme which has first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

7) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until boundary 
treatments, including any gates, have been implemented in accordance with 

details, including a plan indicating their positions, design, materials, height, 
and type, which have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. 

Page 116

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Document is Restricted

Page 117

Agenda Item 7.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 6 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4. Minutes of the Planning Committee Meeting held on 12th December, 2017
	5. Schedule of Applications
	i5 Schedule 01
	i5 Schedule 02
	i5 Schedule 03
	i5 Schedule 04

	6. Appeals Decisions.
	i6 ap1 1-3 Silver Street
	i6 ap2 Land Adj Beechwood, Park Drive

	7. Enforcement Cases Received and Closed for the Period of 28th November to 18th December 2017.

